View metadata, citation and similar papers at core.ac.uk

brought to you by

provided by NORA - Norwegian Open Research Archives GLUTEN-REACTIVE CD4 T CELLS **IN CELIAC DISEASE**

Doctoral thesis by Michael Bodd



Centre for Immune Regulation and Department of Immunology Institute of Clinical Medicine University of Oslo 2012

© Michael Bodd, 2012

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo No. 1321

ISBN 978-82-8264-426-4

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Inger Sandved Anfinsen. Printed in Norway: AIT Oslo AS.

Produced in co-operation with Unipub. The thesis is produced by Unipub merely in connection with the thesis defence. Kindly direct all inquiries regarding the thesis to the copyright holder or the unit which grants the doctorate.

Table of contents

Acknowledgements	
Abbreviations	4
List of papers	5
Introduction	6
The immune system	6
T lymphocyte maturation and activation	6
CD4 ⁺ T cell subsets	7
Th17 cytokines	9
The immune response in the gut	
MHC Function MHC class II structure The HLA nomenclature MHC and disease association	10
Celiac disease Clinical features Histological changes Genetics Transglutaminase 2 The inflammatory reaction HLA tetramer staining of antigen-specific T cells The cereal antigen gluten Gluten T-cell epitopes What determines whether a gluten peptide can initiate a T-cell response?	
Aim of thesis	21
Methodological considerations	22
1-cell proliferation assays	
ELISA/Bioplex analysis	
Peptide-binding assays	
Flow-cytometry	
Identification of gluten I-cell epitopes	25
Summary of papers	
Paper I	
Paper II	

Paper III	
Discussion	27
Functional difference between DQ2.2 and DQ2.5	
T-cell response in DQ2.2 patients	
Mechanism for sustained binding of DQ2.2-glut-L1 to DQ2.2	
Why does DQ2.2 give a lower risk than DQ2.5 for celiac disease?	
The concept of threshold of HLA	
Kinetic stability of peptide-MHC	
DQ9 as a risk factor for celiac disease	
Importance of transdimers	
The pitfall of T-cell proliferation assays	
Assessing cytokine production by gluten-reactive T cells (Paper I) The drawbacks of organ cultures Conflicting data on IL-17 production by gluten-reactive T cells	
Production of IL-21 by gluten-reactive T cells	
The pathogenic role of gluten-reactive T cells	
Peptide vaccination for therapy	
Future perspectives	
Conclusion	
References	40
Erratum	

Acknowledgements

This work was undertaken at the Department of Immunology, Rikshospitalet, during the period 2007-2011. I was financed by a three-year fellowship obtained via the Norwegian Coeliac Society from the Norwegian ExtraFoundation for Health and Rehabilitation (EXTRA funds). I also received support from the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority. I am grateful to these funding bodies for giving me the opportunity to carry out my research. Thank you also to all co-authors who have contributed to this work.

I want to express my gratitude to my supervisor Ludvig M. Sollid for excellent guidance. His skillful tutoring, together with his ability to apply his broad knowledge in immunology to specific issues, have been invaluable. I have truly understood why "the devil is in the details" is his favorite idiom.

I would like to thank all the current and past members of the CD group. Thank you in particular to Marie for her impressive patience in introducing an ignorant MD to the lab world and to Bjørg for her kind help. Thank you to my triathlon competitors at IMMI (Rasmus, Roberto, Silja and Ole Audun) for pushing me to train harder, the T-cell people (Ingrid, Eirik, Asbjørn, Shuo-Wang and Stig) for understanding the frustration and joy involved in T-cell culture and my office mates (Elin, Ulrike, Lars-Egil, Jorunn, Muluneh and Øyvind) for great discussions, shared joy and frustration. Thank you to Melinda for her energy and informal co-supervision, Siri for vivid discussions and enthusiasm and Luka for his advices and friendship. Thank you also to Maria, Burkhard, Knut, Fleur, Omri, Anders, Hao, Axel, Astrid, Ann-Christin, Tahira, Louise and all those I might have forgotten to mention! Thank you also for broken ribs, head injuries and black eyes, all liberally given and received during "ballgames" in this period.

I would further like to thank my entire family for supporting me during this period of my life. Thank you to Bjarne for hiring Kristina (although he did not know that she would become my future girlfriend) and to Kristina for being strict, kind or adorable when necessary.

Abbreviations

APC	Antigen-presenting cells
Bcl6	B-cell lymphoma 6
CD	Celiac disease
CD3, CD4, CD8, CD28	Cluster of differentiation 3, 4, 8 and 28 respectively
CXCL	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand
EATL	Enteropathy-associated T-cell lymphoma
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FoxP3	Forkhead box P3
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
IC ₅₀	Half maximal inhibitory concentration
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
NK	Natural killer
RCD	Refractory celiac disease
ROR	RAR-related orphan receptor
Tfh	Follicular T helper cells
Th	T helper
TBX-21	T-box 21
TCC	T-cell clone
TCL	T-cell line
TCR	T-cell receptor
TG2	Transglutaminase 2
TGF	Transforming growth factor

List of papers

Paper I

Bodd M, Ráki M, Tollefsen S, Fallang LE, Bergseng E, Lundin KE and Sollid LM. HLA-DQ2-restricted gluten-reactive T cells produce IL-21 but not IL-17 or IL-22. *Mucosal Immunology* 2010(3):594-601

Paper II

Bodd M, Kim CY, Lundin KE and Sollid LM. T-cell response to gluten in patients with HLA-DQ2.2 reveals requirement of peptide-MHC stability in celiac disease. In press *Gastroenterology* 2012

Paper III

<u>Bodd M</u>, Tollefsen S, Bergseng E, Lundin KE and Sollid LM. Evidence that HLA-DQ9 confers risk to celiac disease by presence of DQ9-restricted gluten-specific T cells. In press *Human Immunology* 2012

Introduction

The immune system

The immune system is a complex system responsible for protecting the body from harmful microorganisms and malignant cells. In some circumstances the immune system can also have detrimental effects and lead to chronic inflammatory reactions. The immune system is traditionally divided into an innate and an adaptive component. Upon entrance of a pathogen, the innate immune system is triggered first. Innate immune cells like macrophages and neutrophils recognize conserved microbial structures or stress-induced self molecules using an invariant set of receptors (pattern recognition receptors).¹ Later on, the adaptive immune system, dependent on T and B lymphocytes is triggered. The adaptive response takes longer time to initiate but has memory, meaning that the response will be more rapid after encounter with the same antigen on the next occasion² (an antigen is a substance recognized by the adaptive immune system). In general, each lymphocyte expresses only a unique antigen receptor on its surface, but the total repertoire of antigens recognized by the pool of lymphocytes is enormous.

B lymphocytes recognize antigen directly using their cell-surface B-cell receptor. After activation, B lymphocytes proliferate and differentiate into plasma cells that secrete large amounts of the soluble version of the B-cell receptor (antibody), or into memory B cells. Memory B cells respond more rapidly after encounter with the same antigen.

Using their T-cell receptors (TCRs), T lymphocytes recognize antigen presented on specialized major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules, expressed on antigen-presenting cells (APC). Mature T cells that have not yet met their specific antigen (naïve T cells) recirculate between blood and peripheral lymphoid organs. APC engulfing antigen in the periphery, migrate to lymphoid organs where they can get in contact with naïve T cells. Activated naïve T cells will then proliferate and give rise to effector and memory T lymphocytes.

T lymphocyte maturation and activation

Progenitor T cells migrate from the bone marrow to the thymus where maturation of these cells (thymocytes) takes place. Maturation involves

rearrangements of TCR gene segments. This process is responsible for the great diversity of TCRs generated. Only thymocytes with a TCR that has sufficient affinity to self-peptide-MHC will survive (positive selection).³ Thymocytes whose TCR has too strong affinity to self-peptide-MHC are eliminated (negative selection).⁴ The avidity model proposes that the strength of signaling determines whether the cell undergoes negative or positive selection.⁵

After thymic maturation, a few T cells express a $\gamma\delta$ heterodimer, while the majority express an $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer. The $\alpha\beta$ positive T cells express either the costimulatory molecule cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4) or CD8. Schematically, CD8⁺ T cells are cytotoxic T cells and kill the cells they recognize, while CD4⁺ T cells, also called T helper cells (Th), are master regulators of the adaptive immune response and important both for B-cell responses and CD8⁺ T-cell responses.

To be activated, naïve T cells require additional signals in addition to TCR stimulation, provided by costimulatory molecules and cytokines. Only after perceiving a "danger" signal through their pattern recognition receptors do APC upregulate costimulatory molecules and become efficient activators of T cells.⁶ In the absence of costimulation, TCR stimulation seems to induce a state of nonresponsiveness (anergy).⁷

CD4⁺ T cell subsets

An important role of effector CD4⁺ T cells is to produce cytokines. Cytokines are proteins released by cells that affect the behavior of cells that bear receptors for these proteins. The term "Interleukin" (IL) was originally chosen to name cytokines produced by and acting on leukocytes. The term now refers to cytokines with far more diverse functions and origins. The cytokine environment plays an essential role in deciding the differentiation of naïve CD4⁺ T cells into various Th subsets⁸ (Figure 1).

Since the discovery that CD4⁺ T cells could be divided into Th1 and Th2 cells,⁹ several subtypes of CD4⁺ T cells have been uncovered. In addition to Th1 and Th2 cells, regulatory T cells, Th17 and follicular T helper cells (Tfh) are now recognized as distinct Th subsets. These Th subsets can be distinguished based on transcription factors, surface molecules and the cytokines produced.⁸

Th1 cells express the transcription factor T-box 21 $(TBX-21)^{10}$ and produce IFN- γ . This subset plays a role in protection against intracellular pathogens and was

until recently considered the main player in autoimmunity. Th2 cells express the transcription factor GATA-3,¹¹ produce IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13. This subset plays a role in protection against parasites and is particularly important in allergy. Regulatory T cells express the transcription factor forkhead box P3 (FoxP3),¹² produce IL-10 and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β , and have a dampening effect on the immune response. Th17 cells express the transcription factor RAR-related orphan receptor (ROR)yt (RORC in humans)¹³ and produce IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21 and IL-22. IL-17 seems particularly important in defense against Candida infections.¹⁴ The last years' considerable research on Th17 cells have shown that not only Th1 cells but also Th17 cells play an important role in several chronic inflammatory disorders.¹⁵ The relative contribution of the Th1 and Th17 subsets in various diseases is still controversial.¹⁶ Tfh cells express the transcription factor B-cell lymphoma 6 (Bcl6),^{17, 18} produce IL-21 and express the surface molecule chemokine (C-X-C motif) receptor 5 (CXCR5). Tfh cells are important in formation of germinal centers and regulate B-cell differentiation into plasma cells and memory B cells.¹⁹ The relationship of Tfh cells to other Th subset is an ongoing debate.¹⁹ Other subsets, such as the Th22^{20, 21} and Th9 subsets²² characterized by the production of IL-22 and IL-9 respectively, have also been proposed.

Importantly, recent findings suggest that T cells are more plastic than previously understood. While the concept of Th subsets remains useful, subsets do not appear to be end-stage phenotypes and the phenotype of Th cells is probably a dynamic process.²³



Figure 1: Simplistic representation of the different CD4⁺ T cell subsets. *The figure shows the cytokine environment that favors the differentiation of Th subsets, the transcription factors expressed, cytokines produced and some selected functions.*

Th17 cytokines

Given our interest in cytokines produced by Th17 cells, I will discuss this in greater detail. As mentioned, Th17 cells produce the cytokines IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21 and IL-22. These so-called Th17 cytokines exert a variety of different effects and are not produced exclusively by Th17 cells.

IL-17A and IL-17F have proinflammatory properties and act on a variety of cell types to induce the expression of other cytokines (tumor necrosis factor, IL-1 β , IL-6, granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor), chemokines (chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 1 (CXCL1), CXCL8, CXCL10) and metalloproteases. IL-17A and IL-17F are key cytokines for the recruitment, activation and migration of neutrophils.¹⁵ IL-17 is also produced by other cell types, such as $\gamma\delta$ T cells,²⁴ neutrophils,²⁵ CD8⁺ T cells^{15, 26} and the newly described innate lymphoid cells.²⁷

IL-21 has been shown to induce differentiation of naïve T cells to Th17 cells, in an autocrine fashion in synergy with TGF- β .²⁸⁻³⁰ IL-21 is also produced by Tfh cells and in lower amounts by Th1 cells (in humans).³¹ The cytokine also has multiple

other functions, and stimulates CD8⁺ T cells, natural killer (NK) cells³² and exerts important effects on B cells and plasma cells.³³

IL-22 has both pro- and anti-inflammatory properties, possibly dependent on the inflammatory environment.³⁴

IL-23 is important for maintenance of Th17 cells,³⁵ but also has important effects on non-T cells.³⁶

The immune response in the gut

The induction of the adaptive immune response in the gut takes place in organized gut associated lymphoid tissue (consisting of Peyer's patches and isolated lymphoid follicles) or draining mesenteric lymph nodes. The effector sites of the gut are localized in the epithelium and lamina propria, where intrusion of pathogens mainly takes place. The intestinal mucosa is continuously exposed to a large amount of microorganisms and food antigens, not least because of the very large surface area of the gut. Thus, not very surprisingly, a large number of immune cells are found in the gut. In healthy individuals, these immune cells maintain a balance between tolerance to harmless agents (oral tolerance) and inflammation towards pathogenic agents. Clonal anergy, deletion and the generation of antigen-specific regulatory T cells are involved in the process of oral tolerance.³⁷ The maintenance of tolerance possibly relates to a tolerogenic microenvironment. In the steady state, epithelial cells seem to condition dendritic cells into a non-inflammatory state.^{38, 39} Oral tolerance to the food antigen gluten is broken in celiac disease (CD), a disease that will be discussed in more detail later.

MHC

Function

The MHC complex is called human leukocyte antigen (HLA) complex in humans. The HLA complex is a gene-dense region localized to the short arm of chromosome 6. The classical HLA class I and class II genes encode surface molecules essential for antigen presentation to T cells. HLA class I molecules are expressed on all nucleated cells and usually present intracellular peptides to CD8⁺ T cells. HLA class II molecules are constitutively expressed on professional APC, like B cells,

dendritic cells and macrophages and present mainly endocytosed antigen to CD4⁺ T cells. Cross-presentation, which is presentation of endocytosed antigen on HLA class I molecules, can however also occur.⁴⁰ Loading of peptides onto HLA class II is facilitated by the chaperone molecule HLA-DM.

MHC class II structure

As CD is associated with certain MHC class II molecules, we will focus on MHC class II. MHC class II molecules are heterodimers of a and ß glycoprotein chains. There are three pairs of HLA class II genes in humans, namely HLA-DR, -DQ and -DP. Both the α -chains and the β -chains of DO and DP molecules are polymorphic. Thus for these molecules, $\alpha\beta$ heterodimers can be encoded both in *cis* (on the same chromosome) and trans (on two different chromosomes), but pairing restrictions exist.⁴¹ Since the first crystal structure of an MHC class II molecule was determined in 1993,⁴² the structure of several MHC class II molecules bound to different peptides has been determined. The open ends of MHC class II molecules allow peptides to extend out of the binding groove. The peptide-binding groove of the MHC class II molecule is formed by a floor provided by a β-sheet and walls formed by two α helices. Two main principles have traditionally been described for binding of peptides to MHC class II.⁴³ First, hydrogen bonds are formed from conserved MHC residues to the peptide backbone. Second, polymorphic residues from MHC class II interact with peptide side chains at position P1, P4, P6 and P9 (and sometimes P7). The side chains of these so-called anchor residues interact with distinctive pockets in the binding groove.⁴³ A third, less commonly mentioned principle, is the formation of hydrogen-bonds between polymorphic residues of MHC and the peptide backbone.⁴⁴ Upon binding to HLA class II, the peptide assumes a conformation similar to a polyproline type II helix,⁴⁵ so that some peptide side chains are directed towards MHC (P1, P4, P6, P7 and P9) and others towards the TCR.

The HLA nomenclature

The beginning of the HLA allele name specifies the locus within the gene region (e.g, DQA1). The allele name is followed by an asterisk. Several numbers, each separated by a colon, follow (e.g, DQA1*05:01:01:01). The first number following the asterisk refers to the allele group and is often similar to the serotype.

The second number refers to specific alleles encoding for proteins with different sequences. The third number refers to alleles that differ by synonymous nucleotide substitutions. Alleles differing in the fourth number have sequence polymorphisms in introns or 5' and 3' untranslated regions.⁴⁶

HLA molecules can be named according to the HLA alleles by which they are encoded. This is generally determined by genomic typing. HLA molecules can also be named by their β chain, followed by their α chain, separated by a dot (e.g, DQ2.5). The strong linkage disequilibrium (see below) between HLA-DR and -DQ often enables the HLA-DR and -DQ genotypes to be determined with a fairly high certainty by serologic HLA-DR and -DQ typing.

The nomenclature can be exemplified by HLA-DQ2 (DQ2) (Figure 2). The antibody which initially defined the DQ2 molecules recognizes the β chain encoded by DQB1*02 alleles. Three DQ2 heterodimers can actually be distinguished: the *cis*-encoded DQ2.5, the *trans*-encoded DQ2.5 and the *cis*-encoded DQ2.2. DQ2.5 is encoded in *cis* on the DR3-DQ2 haplotype, or in *trans* on the DR7-DQ2/DR5-DQ7 haplotypes. DQ2.2 is encoded in *cis* on the DR7-DQ2 haplotype.



Figure 2: HLA nomenclature, exemplified with HLA-DQ2 (*Adapted from Abadie et al.*⁴⁷).

MHC and disease association

Two aspects of the MHC region are worth mentioning. First, the region is highly polymorphic.⁴⁸ Second, many alleles show very strong linkage disequilibrium

(non-random association of alleles). This is a major problem when trying to identify disease-predisposing MHC genes. Many autoimmune or chronic inflammatory diseases, such as diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis and narcolepsy, show an association with certain HLA types.⁴⁹ The differential predisposition to diseases of various HLA molecules is believed to be mainly related to their different peptide-binding properties. This may affect the TCR repertoire generated during thymic selection or the selection of peptides presented to T cells in the periphery. One disease that demonstrates a strong MHC association is CD.

Celiac disease

Clinical features

CD is a chronic inflammatory disease of the small intestine triggered by gluten proteins from wheat, barley and rye. Malabsorption can develop and may lead to weight loss, vitamin deficiencies, osteoporosis and anemia.⁵⁰ However, as shown by screening studies, many patients have mild or no symptoms and remain undiagnosed.⁵¹ The prevalence of CD is about 1% in general western populations⁵² and is possibly increasing.⁵³ CD can present at all ages. The initial detection of CD is usually based on the presence of antibodies specific for the enzyme transglutaminase 2 (TG2). A definite diagnosis has up to now been based on histological findings in small intestinal biopsies.⁵⁴ However, according to recently launched criteria, CD can be diagnosed in children without biopsy assessment.⁵⁵ The only current available treatment of CD is a life-long gluten-free diet, which is efficient in the vast majority of patients. A rare complication is refractory CD (RCD), with persistent malabsorptive symptoms and villous atrophy despite strict adherence to a gluten-free diet. RCD can be categorized into RCD1 and RCD2.⁵⁶ The latter. characterized by abnormal clonal intraepithelial lymphocytes gives a high risk of enteropathyassociated T-cell lymphoma (EATL). CD patients seem to have an increased risk of cancer (in particular lymphoma) and premature death, that may possibly be reduced by adhering to a strict gluten-free diet.⁵⁷

Histological changes

The histological changes of the celiac lesion were initially graded by Marsh,⁵⁸ a grading later modified by Oberhuber et al⁵⁹ to grades ranging from Marsh 0 to 3.

13

According to Oberhuber, Marsh 0 refers to a normal histology. Marsh 1 refers to an increased number of intraepithelial lymphocytes. Marsh 2 refers to crypt hyperplasia and an increased number of intraepithelial lymphocytes. Marsh 3a, 3b and 3c refers to villous atrophy of some degree. Although, not very strong, there seems to be a certain correlation between clinical features and histological changes.^{60, 61}

Genetics

The high concordance rate between monozygotic twins $(70-75\%)^{62}$ suggests a strong genetic factor in CD that can be estimated to account for 50-90% of the variance in liability to the disease.⁶³

The genetic loci identified, of which HLA is the most important, can account for over 50% of the genetic variance in CD.⁶⁴ The individual non-HLA genes identified so far, together probably account for only up to 14% of the genetic variance in CD (assuming a heritability of 50%).⁶⁴ Some of the missing heritability is believed to be caused by highly penetrant rare variants, common variants with small effects or possibly epistatic interactions between risk genes.⁴⁷ Interestingly, many of the predisposing genes identified in chronic inflammatory diseases (including CD) are shared, suggesting common biological mechanisms.⁶⁵

The great majority of CD patients express DQ2.5, which can be encoded in *cis* or in *trans* (see HLA nomenclature above).⁶⁶ The mature *cis*- and *trans*-encoded DQ2.5 proteins differ only in one residue localized membrane proximally and thus unlikely to affect peptide-binding. The risks for CD of *cis*- and *trans*-encoded DQ2.5 are indeed similar.⁴⁷ Most of the patients not expressing DQ2.5 express DQ8 or carry either the α -chain or the β -chain variants of DQ2.5 (Table 1).⁶⁷ The patients expressing only the β chain of DQ2.5 express DQ2.2, a molecule highly homologous to DQ2.5. The relative risk of developing CD for patients expressing DQ2.2 without any other predisposing HLA genes is much lower than that of CD patients expressing DQ2.5. A possible reason for this was recently suggested⁴⁴ (see discussion). This was further examined in Paper II, in which we studied the gluten T-cell response in CD patients with DQ2.2 not expressing other CD predisposing HLA molecules.

Another observation is that, in contrast to many HLA-DQ molecules, the CD predisposing HLA molecules DQ2 and DQ8 both lack aspartic acid (alanine instead) in position 57 of the β chain. HLA-DQ9.3 (hereafter DQ9 unless specified differently) differs from DQ8 only in this particular position and is not considered associated with

CD.⁶⁸ In paper III, however, we identified gluten-reactive T cells restricted by DQ9 in a CD patient, thus suggesting that DQ9 may be involved in the T-cell response to gluten in CD.

Table 1: Description and naming of HLA-DQ molecules that are associated with celiac disease and which are used as antigen presenting elements for CD4⁺ T cells of celiac disease patients *(From Sollid et al.*⁶⁹).

Encoded by			Expression in	Part of common	
HLA-DQ molecule	DQA1*	DQB1*	Risk	cis or trans	<i>cis</i> haplotype
HLA-DQ2.5	05	02	High	cis, trans	DR3DQ2
HLA-DQ2.2	02	02	Low	cis, (trans)	DR7DQ2
HLA-DQ2.3	03	02	Likely low †	trans, (cis) §	
HLA-DQ7.5	05	03:01	Very low	cis (trans)	DR5DQ7
HLA-DQ8	03	03:02	Low	cis	DR4DQ8
HLA-DQ8.5	05	03:02	Likely low †	trans, (cis) §	

† Risk for celiac disease has not been established in population studies.§ Molecule can also be encoded in cis on some rare haplotypes.

Transglutaminase 2

With the discovery in 1997 that the, until then, elusive endomysial autoantigen was TG2,⁷⁰ a role of this enzyme in the pathogenesis of CD was rapidly uncovered. It was shown that TG2 increases the immunogenicity of gluten peptides, by catalyzing the conversion of glutamine to glutamic acid, in a process called deamidation.^{71, 72} The introduction of negative charges in certain positions increases the binding affinity of gluten peptides to the disease associated DQ2 and DQ8 molecules, thereby increasing T-cell activation.^{71, 73} TG2 also has the ability to crosslink proteins, in a process called transamidation. The specificity of TG2 is affected by C-terminal proline (P) residues and TG2 typically recognizes glutamine (Q) residues in the Q-X-P sequence (X is any amino acid).^{74, 75}

The inflammatory reaction

The inflammatory reaction of CD involves cells of both the innate and adaptive immune system. The adaptive immune response is perhaps best understood. Gluten-reactive CD4⁺ T cells are likely to be essential in the pathogenesis of CD as such cells are isolated only from the small intestine of CD patients but not healthy

controls⁷⁶, and are restricted by the disease predisposing DQ2 and DQ8 molecules.⁷⁷, ⁷⁸ The cytokine production by gluten-reactive CD4⁺ T cells is dominated by IFN-γ, although several other cytokines are produced, including IL-21 (Paper I), IL-4⁷⁹ and IL-10.⁸⁰

CD8⁺ T cells also seem to be involved in the pathogenesis of CD. Two studies have suggested that gluten-specific CD8⁺ T cells can be found in the small intestine of CD patients.^{81, 82} Nevertheless it is likely that the main involvement of CD8⁺ T cells is mediated through their expression of innate receptors. Increased IL-15 in CD induces increased expression of NK cell receptors on these CD8⁺ T cells, which can then recognize non-classical MHC molecules on the surface of epithelial cells and induce apoptosis of epithelial cells.⁸³⁻⁸⁵

The presence of autoantibodies against the enzyme TG2 is an autoimmune feature of CD. A high frequency of TG2-specific plasma cells can be visualized directly in the celiac lesion.⁸⁶ The dependency of a gluten-containing diet for production of TG2-specific antibodies, and the absence of TG2-specific T cells in the celiac lesion have led to the hapten-carrier model.⁸⁷ The model proposes that TG2 transamidates gluten peptides to itself (or to another surface molecule on the cell). This would facilitate uptake of gluten peptide by TG2-specific B cells and enable T-cell help by gluten-specific T cells. Whether TG2-specific B cells contribute to disease development is still unknown. Gliadin-specific antibodies are also commonly found in CD and some of the epitopes recognized have been identified.⁸⁸

The possible innate effects of gluten are less well understood. While several gluten peptides with alleged innate effects have been reported,⁸⁹ one particular α -gliadin peptide, the p31-43 peptide has been most studied. Among several effects, this peptide interestingly induces IL-15.^{84, 90, 91}

HLA tetramer staining of antigen-specific T cells

The development of MHC-peptide multimers has greatly facilitated the detection of antigen-specific T cells.⁹² MHC-peptide multimers generally consist of up to four MHC-peptide complexes, multimerized on streptavidin (conjugated to a fluorochrome for identification) to overcome the low affinity of the TCR-peptide/MHC interaction. Although the valency of these MHC multimers is variable (most will usually be trimers or tetramers),⁹³ they are commonly referred to as MHC

tetramers. We will continue using the term "HLA tetramer". Gluten-reactive T cells can be visualized directly in peripheral blood after a short-term gluten challenge of treated DQ2⁺ CD patients using HLA-DQ2 gluten-peptide tetramers.⁹⁴ Such T cells can also be visualized in peripheral blood of untreated and treated patients, using a bead-based enrichment protocol (Christophersen et al., unpublished observations) and directly in biopsy material of CD patients (unpublished data).

The cereal antigen gluten

Gluten is the mass remaining when washing dough to remove starch and other water soluble constituents. In practice the term refers only to the remaining proteins (accounting for around 80% of this mass).⁹⁵ Historically, gluten referred only to wheat proteins. The term is now being used to include also proline and glutamine-rich proteins from barley, rye and oat. Wheat gluten can be divided into the alcohol soluble gliadins and the alcohol insoluble glutenins. Glutenins can further be subdivided into low and high-molecular weight glutenins. Gliadins have traditionally been subdivided into α -, β -, γ -, and ω -gliadins, according to their electrophoretic mobility. Sequence similarities have however later revealed that α - and β - gliadins belong to one group.⁹⁵ As common wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) is hexaploid and because of extensive gene duplication, a high number of highly homologous proteins are found in common wheat. The gluten proteins of barley, rye and oat are called hordeins, secalins and avenins respectively.⁹⁶ The high content of proline makes gluten proteins highly resistant to digestion by enzymes in the digestive tract^{97, 98} and influences the selective targeting of glutamines by the enzyme TG2.

Gluten T-cell epitopes

CD patients react to sequences in wheat (mostly sequences in gliadin, but also in glutenin), barley and rye.⁹⁹ These sequences of barley and rye are often homologous to those found in wheat.^{100, 101} Although oats are generally considered safe for CD patients,¹⁰² some patients are apparently intolerant,¹⁰³ and oat-specific T cells have been isolated from small intestinal biopsies of CD patients.¹⁰⁴

The nomenclature of gluten epitopes recognized by CD patients has been inconsistent and different groups have used different names for the same epitopes. A process of standardizing the nomenclature of gluten T-cell epitopes is ongoing⁶⁹ and I will use this nomenclature (Table 2). Since the initial discovery of the first gluten epitope in 1998¹⁰⁵ and later the DQ2.5-glia- α 1a and DQ2.5-glia- α 2 epitopes,⁷³ many gluten epitopes have been described.¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁹ The DQ2.5-glia- α 1, DQ2.5-glia- α 2, DQ2.5-glia- ω 1, DQ2.5-glia- ω 2, DQ2.5-hor-1 and DQ2.5-sec-1 are dominant DQ2.5-restricted gluten epitopes.^{101, 107} Three DQ8-restricted gluten epitopes have also been described, of which the dominant epitope is the DQ8-glia- α 1.¹¹⁰⁻¹¹² We recently also identified the first DQ2.2-restricted gluten epitope, which appears to be a dominant DQ2.2-restricted gluten epitope (Paper II).

Table 2: Overview of DQ2.5, DQ2.2 and DQ8-restricted gluten T-cell epitopes described to date (*From Sollid et al.*).

Epitope ⁺	Previous names	Per 1	2	de- 3	bin 4	dir 5	ig 6	reg 7	ist 8	er 9
DQ2.5 restricted	epitopes									
DQ2.5-glia-α1a DQ2.5-glia-α1b DQ2.5-glia-α2 DQ2.5-glia-α3	DQ2-α-I, α9 DQ2-α-III DQ2-α-II, α2 glia-α20	P P F	F Y Q R	P P P	Q Q E E	P P L Q	E E P	L L Y Y	P P P	Y Y Q Q
DQ2.5-glia-y1 DQ2.5-glia-y2 DQ2.5-glia-y3 DQ2.5-glia-y4a DQ2.5-glia-y4b DQ2.5-glia-y4b DQ2.5-glia-y4d DQ2.5-glia-y5	DQ2-y-I DQ2-y-II, y30 DQ2-y-IV DQ2-y-IV DQ2-y-VIIC DQ2-y-VIIC DQ2-y-VIIB DQ2-y-VIIB DQ2-y-VI	P I Q S P Q P Q	<i>~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~</i>	QPPPPP	S E E E E E E E F	F _Q Q Q Q Q P	PPEEPPE	E A Y F F F F Q	Q Q P P P C P	Q L Q Q Q Q Q Q
DQ2.5-glia-ω1 DQ2.5-glia-ω2	DQ2-∞-I DQ2-∞-II	P P	F Q	P P	Q E	P Q	E P	Q F	P P	F W
DQ2.5-glut-L1 DQ2.5-glut-L2	glutenin-17 glutenin-156	P F	F S	s Q	E Q	QQ	E E	Q S	P P	V F
DQ2.5-hor-1 DQ2.5-hor-2 DQ2.5-hor-3	Hor-α9, Hα9 Hor-α2, Hα2 Hor-I	P P P	F Q I	P P P	Q E E	P Q Q	E P P	Q F Q	P P P	F Q Y
DQ2.5-sec-1 DQ2.5-sec-2	Sec-α9, Sα9 Sec-α2, Sα2	P P	F Q	P P	Q E	P Q	E P	Q F	P P	F Q
DQ2.5-ave-1a DQ2.5-ave-1b	Av-α9A Av-α9B, 1490	P P	Y Y	P P	E E	Q Q	E	E Q	P P	F
DQ2.2 restricted	<u>epitopes</u>									
DQ2.2-glut-L1	glutenin-17	Ρ	F	S	Е	Q	E	Q	Ρ	V
DQ8 restricted e	<u>pitopes</u>									
DQ8-glia-α1	DQ8-a-I	Е	G	S	F	Q	Ρ	S	Q	Е
DQ8-glia-γ1a DQ8-glia-γ1b	DQ8-y-Ia DQ8-y-Ib	E E	Q Q	P P	d d	Q Q	P P	F Y	P P	Q E
DQ8-glut-H1	HMW-glutenin	Q	G	Y	Y	Ρ	т	S	Ρ	Q

†In the names of the epitopes, the following short terms denote the proteins of origin: glia- α : α -gliadin; glia- γ : γ -gliadin; glia- ω : ω -gliadin; glut-L: low molecular weight glutenin; glut-H: high molecular weight glutenin; hor: hordein; sec: secalin; ave: avenin. Glutamate residues (E) formed by TG2-mediated deamidation which are important for recognition by T cells are shown in bold. Additional glutamine residues also targeted by TG2 are underlined.

What determines whether a gluten peptide can initiate a T-cell response?

Several factors determine whether a gluten peptide can initiate a T-cell response (Figure 3). Important factors are (1) proteolytic stability, (2) sustained binding to MHC and (3) targeting by TG2. (1) Proteolytic stability of gluten peptides is maintained by a high content of proline.^{97, 98} The amount of protein containing the antigenic peptide prior to digestion is also likely to be important. (2) Sustained binding of peptides to MHC is essential to enable priming of naïve T cells in peripheral lymph nodes.^{44, 113} As previously mentioned, two principles are particularly important for peptide binding to MHC. The first principle is hydrogen bond formation between conserved MHC residues and the main chain of the peptide. Prolines, which are particularly common in gluten peptides, would eliminate the hydrogen bonds from MHC to the peptide main chains (in P2, P4, P6 and P9). Hence, in DQ2, prolines are generally not present in P2, P4, P7 and P9 (the absence of proline at P7 instead of P6 possibly relates to pocket preferences).^{109, 114} A similar pattern is seen for DQ8, with the difference that proline is penalizing also in P1.¹¹¹ The second principle is side chain interaction with the HLA pockets. DO2 has a preference for a negative charge in P4, P6 and P7.^{115, 116} DQ8 has a preference for a negative charge in P1 and P9.^{117,} 118 (3) These negative charges are introduced by the conversion of glutamine residues to glutamic acid by TG2. Peptide fragments harboring T-cell epitopes are generally good targets of TG2.119



Resistance to intestinal proteolysis (proline-rich regions)

Selective force by TG2

Sufficient affinity to DQ2 or DQ8 -Pocket interactions (negative charges in certain positions) -Main chain interactions (abscence of proline in certain positions)

Figure 3: Selection of gluten epitopes (modified from Sollid et al.¹²⁰).

Aim of thesis

Gluten-reactive CD4⁺ T cells are key players in CD. We aimed to study the phenotype of these cells and to investigate how HLA shapes the specificity of the T-cell response to gluten in CD.

At the time of initiation of this project, Th17 cells were a newly described Tcell subset. Th17 cells were shown to be associated with chronic inflammation in several mice models. We therefore aimed to investigate whether some gluten-reactive T cells had the phenotype of Th17 cells.

DQ2.2 is highly homologous to DQ2.5, but gives a much lower risk for CD. The CD4⁺ T cell response to gluten in DQ2.5 patients is well characterized, while the one in DQ2.2 patients had not been previously investigated. We wanted to study the gluten T-cell response in patients expressing DQ2.2 but no other CD predisposing HLA molecules.

Finally, we serendipitously observed that $CD4^+$ T cells from one CD patient recognized gluten peptides presented on DQ9. DQ9 has previously not been considered a risk factor for CD. Interestingly DQ9 differs from the CD-associated DQ8 molecule in one particularly MHC residue (β 57). This residue is considered essential for the association of DQ8 with CD. The aim was to understand more about the role of DQ9 and thereby the β 57 polymorphism for predisposition to CD.

Methodological considerations

Patients

For these studies, we recruited adult patients with a CD diagnosis according to the American Gastroenterological Association Institute's recommendations.⁵⁴ The patients underwent endoscopy and duodenal biopsies were sampled. The studies were approved by the regional ethics committee. Fresh small intestinal biopsies enable the culture of living cells obtained from the site of inflammation. Some patients underwent a 3 days oral gluten challenge before we collected blood samples on day 6.¹²¹ This method enables direct visualization of gluten-specific T cells in the peripheral blood of CD patients.⁹⁴ While the gluten challenge is generally well tolerated, some patients do experience clinical symptoms.

T-cell culture

Most T-cell lines (TCLs) were generated by incubating duodenal biopsies with gluten overnight. The biopsies were chopped into pieces the next day and the TCLs subsequently expanded in a polyclonal manner.¹²² T-cell clones (TCCs) were generated by limiting dilution. Importantly, although the antigen specificity is preserved, the phenotype of CD4⁺ T cells has been shown to be plastic after long term *in vitro* culture.²³ In particular, Th17 cells can switch to Th1 cells.^{123, 124} We controlled for this by assessing the cytokine production of CD4⁺ T cells with unknown specificity, to ascertain that the culture conditions enabled maintenance of the Th17 phenotype (Paper I).

T-cell proliferation assays

To examine the reactivity of CD4⁺ T cells we used a ³H- thymidine incorporation assay. In this assay, antigen-specific T cells are identified by proliferation after presentation of antigen by APC. Differential requirements for proliferation of certain CD4⁺ T cell subsets compared with others (such as regulatory T cells)¹²⁵ could introduce a potential bias.

To investigate the T-cell response to gluten in CD patients (Paper II and III), we used Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) transformed B-cell lines as APC. As establishment of autologous EBV B-cell lines takes time, we instead often used HLA homozygous EBV-transformed B-cell lines obtained through HLA workshops. Cell lines matched for the patient's most CD relevant HLA haplotype were used as APC. Thus, presentation of gluten peptides by less CD relevant HLA molecules was not systematically assessed. In some cases, this could have lead to interesting findings gone unreported. In Paper II, for instance, two patients also expressed the DQ2.3 transdimer (DQA1*03/DQB1*02) which has been shown to be able to present gluten peptides.¹¹¹ This was not investigated further in this paper.

As complex cereal antigen in paper II, we used a chymotrypsin digest of wheat gluten. We did not examine the T-cell responses to barley, rye or oat, although T-cell epitopes would possibly be expected to be found in also these cereals. Such sequences are often homologous between cereals.^{100, 101} Noteworthy however, we found no homologous sequences to the dominant DQ2.2-restricted epitope (DQ2.2-glut-L1) in barley or rye (paper II).

Traditional T-cell proliferation assays do not take into account the affinity of peptide to MHC (see discussion). Consequently, the peptide sequence inducing the initial T-cell activation *in vivo* could be a different (probably homologous) sequence from the one inducing activation *in vitro*. This is in particular true for the antigen gluten, as many highly homologous sequences are present.

ELISA/Bioplex analysis

We investigated the cytokine production of gluten-reactive T cells after stimulation. Of notice, various modes of stimulation may lead to different cytokine production profiles. For instance, stimulation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 may lead to a much higher IL-10 production than stimulation with phorbol-12-myristate-13acetate/ionomycin (Ingrid Olsen, unpublished observations). We therefore stimulated the T cells in various ways before examining cytokine production by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) or Bioplex analysis. Defining a high and low cytokine producer is not straightforward and including positive and negative controls in the assays is important.

Peptide-binding assays

The relative peptide-binding affinity was assessed in a competitive binding assay by measuring IC_{50} values (half maximal inhibitory concentration). The IC_{50} value measures the amount needed of the peptide of interest to inhibit 50% of the binding of a biotinylated indicator peptide. Briefly, DQ molecules were captured (using anti-DQ antibodies) from lysates of homozygous EBV-transformed B-cell lines expressing the DQ molecule of interest. The indicator peptide was then incubated together with the peptide of interest.¹²⁶ Of notice, this assay is suited to compare the relative binding affinity of peptides to a given HLA molecule, but not to different HLA molecules.

Peptide binding to MHC was also assessed using two different peptide-MHC off-rate assays. These methods can be used to compare binding of peptides to different MHC molecules. In the first method, recombinant MHC molecules are loaded with a fluorescently labeled peptide. Dissociation of this peptide is then measured.⁴⁴ In the second method, APC are loaded with peptide before washing away free peptide. Proliferation of antigen-specific T cells at different time points after wash-off is used to estimate off-rate.⁴⁴ This second method is less accurate and a TCC specific to the actual peptide-MHC complex is needed. On the other hand, generation of recombinant MHC molecules is not required.

Flow-cytometry

Flow-cytometry was used to identify and characterize CD4⁺ gluten-reactive T cells. The advantage of flow-cytometry is its ability to detect and characterize rare cell populations accurately. The method is sensitive to improper gating and artifacts. The use of appropriate controls is therefore essential.

We used DQ2-gliadin tetramers (see Introduction) to visualize gluten-specific T cells in intestinal TCLs or in peripheral blood. The soluble DQ2 molecules were loaded with a peptide harboring the DQ2-glia- α 1a, the DQ2-glia- α 2 epitope or with an endogenous peptide (serving as negative control). T cells binding these tetramers can be identified by flow-cytometry and further characterized. The identification of gluten-specific T cells using this method is highly specific, but enables the identification of T cells specific to only defined gluten T-cell epitopes. Further,

despite being peptide-MHC specific, some TCCs might not stain, likely because of a high off-rate of some TCRs to peptide-MHC.¹²⁷

The generation of recombinant DQ2 molecules currently requires the synthesis of new protein for each DQ2-peptide complex of interest. The reason for this is that the peptide must be covalently linked to the β chain of DQ2 for the stability of the molecule to be maintained. We are currently trying to develop a method that enables exchange of peptide on the surface of DQ2. The idea is to cleave off the covalently bound peptide, and then enzymatically attach a peptide of interest using the enzyme Sortase A (Bergseng et al, ongoing project).

Identification of gluten T-cell epitopes

Gluten is very complex and we do not have access to a panel of gluten peptides covering all known gluten proteins. Instead, to identify gluten epitopes, we used the strategy of reducing the complexity of a gliadin digest that stimulated the relevant TCCs. Fractionation of the gliadin digest was performed in two dimensions, namely first by size (gelfiltration chromatography) and then by hydrophobicity (reversed-phase high performance liquid chromatography). T-cell stimulating fractions were tested by mass-spectrometry. Peptide sequences identified by massspectrometry that were common to all T-cell stimulating fractions were synthesized and tested for their T-cell stimulatory capacity. The disadvantage of the method is that sufficient amounts of a peptide must be present after fractionation to enable detection by mass spectrometry. Many highly homologous sequences in gliadin proteins also make a sufficient separation of peptides difficult.

Summary of papers

Paper I

In this study we investigated whether gluten-reactive CD4⁺ T cells produce Th17 cytokines. We examined gluten-reactive T cells isolated from the small intestine or visualized in peripheral blood of CD patients. We found that gluten-reactive T cells do not seem to produce the typical Th17 cytokines IL-17 or IL-22. Interestingly however, we found that the gluten-reactive T cells produce the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-21.

Paper II

A high off-rate of the common DQ2.5-restricted gluten epitopes was found on DQ2.2.⁴⁴ Consequently, we hypothesized that T cells from CD patients with DQ2.2 without other HLA risk genes would not recognize these common DQ2.5-restricted epitopes, but epitopes showing sustained binding to DQ2.2. We investigated the CD4⁺ T-cell response to gluten in such patients. We identified a dominant epitope that was not commonly recognized by DQ2.5 CD patients without DQ2.2. The epitope showed sustained binding to DQ2.2. We investigated the basis for stable binding of the dominant DQ2.2-restricted epitope to this molecule. Our findings underscore the importance of kinetic stability of peptide-MHC in determining T-cell responses in CD.

Paper III

DQ9 differs from DQ8 only in position β 57. This position has been suggested to be critical for the association of DQ8 to CD and type 1 diabetes. DQ9 has been claimed not to be associated with CD. In this paper we investigated the gluten response in a DR7-DQ2/DR9-DQ9 heterozygous CD patient. Unexpectedly, we found many gluten-reactive T cells restricted by DQ9. We characterized the DQ9-restricted gluten response in this patient in detail and identified a dominant DQ9-restricted epitope. We further investigated the binding of gluten peptides to DQ8 and DQ9. The findings suggest that DQ9 can be involved in the pathogenesis of CD.

Discussion

Functional difference between DQ2.2 and DQ2.5

DQ2.2 and DQ2.5 are homologous molecules and differ only in ten amino acids in their membrane distal domains. The binding motifs of DQ2.2 and DQ2.5 are also fairly similar.¹²⁸ The question was how this small difference could translate into the large risk difference observed between DQ2.2 and DQ2.5 for CD. In particular it seemed paradoxical that despite the large risk difference, DQ2.2 expressing APC could present peptide *in vitro* to gluten-reactive T cells isolated from CD patients expressing DQ2.5.^{109, 126} Fallang and Bergseng⁴⁴ recently proposed that the difference in risk relates to a polymorphism at position 22 of the α chain. Tyrosine in α 22 of DQ2.5 is necessary to maintain a hydrogen-bonding network to the main chain of the peptide. In DQ2.2, this tyrosine is changed to a phenylalanine, which is unable to form this hydrogen bonding network. The result is that common DQ2.5-restricted gluten epitopes show less sustained binding to DQ2.2 than to DQ2.5. This difference would explain the risk difference between DQ2.2 and DQ2.5.⁴⁴

As sustained binding of peptides to MHC was hypothesized to be critical, we predicted that T cells from CD patients with DQ2.2 would not recognize the common epitopes recognized by T cells of DQ2.5 patients. Instead epitopes which bound well to DQ2.2 would be recognized. To investigate this, we studied the gluten T-cell response in CD patients carrying DQ2.2 but no other HLA risk genes (Paper II).

T-cell response in DQ2.2 patients

DO2.2 gives a much lower risk than DO2.5 for CD, but up to 5% of CD patients express DO2.2 without other predisposing HLA genes.⁶⁷ Interestingly, no difference in disease severity was observed between DQ2.2 and DQ2.5 patients.⁶⁰ We found that DQ2.2 patients without other predisposing HLA genes do have glutenreactive CD4⁺ T cells in their small intestine (Paper II). Most gluten-reactive T cells from such patients recognized an epitope, named DQ2.2-glut-L1. This epitope has previously been described in the literature as a DQ2.5-restricted gluten epitope (glut-17). Noteworthy, we only found T-cell responses towards this epitope in DQ2.5 patients who also expressed DQ2.2. TCCs reactive to this epitope have only been isolated from one CD patient expressing DQ2.5, but not DO2.2,¹⁰⁶ so this must be rare. Stronger binding of the DQ2.2-glut-L1 epitope to DQ2.2 than to DQ2.5 can most likely explain this observation. Further, in DO2.2 patients that did not express DO2.5, we found no T cells reactive to the common DQ2.5-restricted gluten epitopes. Thus, the stability of different peptides to DO2.2 and DO2.5 controls the generation of Tcell responses in DQ2.2 and DQ2.5 patients. This supports the hypothesis we put forward. Sustained antigen binding to MHC seems critical in determining T-cell responses in CD and hence possibly in setting the threshold for disease initiation.

Mechanism for sustained binding of DQ2.2-glut-L1 to DQ2.2

We found that a serine in P3 of the dominant DQ2.2-restricted epitope is important for sustained binding to DQ2.2. We modeled the binding of the DQ2.2glut-L1 epitope to DQ2.2. The model suggests that the side chain of this peptide (in P3) can interact with DQ2.2. This interaction can possibly compensate for the loss of the hydrogen-bonding network from α 22 to the main-chain of the peptide that is lost in DQ2.2. The absence of proline in P3 was proposed to be essential for efficient antigen presentation by DQ2.2,¹²⁶ but this was contended in a later study.¹⁰⁹ Our findings suggest that the preference of serine at P3, rather than the absence of proline is essential for strong binding of the DQ2.2-glut-L1 epitope to DQ2.2. A preference of a serine in P3 however was not seen for DQ2.5 and this possibly relates to space constraints imposed by the tyrosine in α 22.

Why does DQ2.2 give a lower risk than DQ2.5 for celiac disease?

The gluten epitope DQ2.2-glut-L1 shows sustained binding to DQ2.2 and binds better to DQ2.2 than to DQ2.5. Why is the risk of DQ2.2 for CD then so much lower than that of DQ2.5?

One contributory factor could be the lower amounts of the DQ2.2-glut-L1 epitope apparently present in digested gluten compared with the dominant DQ2.5-restricted gluten epitopes (Paper II). This could be caused either by a lower amount of protein harboring this sequence or by a lower proteolytical stability of this peptide. The latter is supported by the presence of a chymotrypsin cleavage site within the sequence of the DQ2.2-glut-L1 epitope.

Further, an anchor residue in P3 (serine, aspartate or threonine) seems important for sustained binding to DQ2.2, but not DQ2.5.¹²⁸ Hence, fewer different peptides are likely to fulfill the stricter criteria necessary to become a good DQ2.2 binder. In order to examine this, we searched in a tailored gluten database (containing all identified gluten proteins from wheat) with the predicted peptide-binding motif of DQ2.2 ([Either QFYWILMSP]-[No P]-[S or T]-[No P]-[Any]-[Either PEQD]-[No P]-[Any]-[No P]; at least one P and one Q present). In fact, among the unique proteins containing this pattern, many (over 15%) contained sequences homologous to the DQ2.2-glut-L1 epitope.

The use of soluble MHC molecules to enrich for high affinity peptide binders is a promising method to identify dominant T-cell epitopes in infectious and autoimmune diseases.¹²⁹ Our group has started using recombinant soluble DQ molecules to enrich for high affinity peptide binders in a complex gluten digest treated with TG2. Astonishingly, almost half the peptides identified from the gluten digest after enrichment with soluble DQ2.2 contained the DQ2.2-glut-L1 epitope (Dørum et al., unpublished data).

Possibly, initiation of CD is a matter of threshold. Somehow the "advantage" of a new anchor in P3 in DQ2.2 is lower than the "disadvantage" of losing a hydrogen-bonding network to the peptide main chain (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Increased risk of DQ2.5 compared with DQ2.2 for CD. *The loss of the main chain interaction to the peptide leads to a greater risk reduction than the risk increase of a potential anchor residue in P3 (arrows up/down refer to increased/reduced risk).*

The concept of threshold of HLA

The concept of a threshold effect of HLA in CD was already proposed in 2003.¹²⁶ The idea is supported by epidemiologic data showing that the risk for CD is increased in homozygous compared with heterozygous DQ2 patients.¹³⁰ In additional support of this concept, is the higher frequency of low-risk HLA class II genes (including DQ2.2) in latent CD (high antibody titers, but no histological changes) compared with full-blown CD.^{131, 132} The association of DQ2 homozygosity with RCDII and EATL¹³³ also suggests that the degree of inflammation is somehow correlated with disease severity.

Kinetic stability of peptide-MHC

Our findings suggest that kinetic stability of peptide-MHC complexes has important effects on the specificity of T-cell responses in CD. Kinetic stability affects both the hierarchy of peptides loaded onto MHC¹³⁴ and the half-life of peptide-MHC on the cell surface. The latter impacts the number of peptide-MHC complexes that reach the lymph node on the surface of the APC. Interestingly, in a mouse model, peptide off-rate on MHC was a crucial factor in determining the CD8 T cells' decision to stop and form long-lived contacts with dendritic cells.¹¹³ Another study showed that *in vivo* priming in the presence of competitive T-cell responses to unrelated peptides, lead to an aborted expansion of T cells reactive to peptide-MHC complexes

with poor kinetic stability.¹³⁵ Two alternative scenarios could thus explain the differential T-cell response in DQ2.2 and DQ2.5 patients. In the first scenario, the patients generate an initial response towards peptides with a lower kinetic stability to MHC. This response is later on inhibited by the presence of peptides with higher kinetic stability. In the second scenario, no initial response is generated towards epitopes with a low affinity to MHC.

Whether CD should be called an autoimmune disease or not is a matter of semantics. Autoantibodies are found, but the disease-driving CD4⁺ T cells recognize a foreign antigen. In contrast to CD, many autoimmune diseases seem to be driven by autoreactive T cells. Somehow, these autoreactive T cells escape negative selection. A low affinity of peptides to MHC has been suggested as a potential mechanism.¹³⁶ In non-obese diabetic mice (model of type 1 diabetes), the 9-23 peptide of the insulin β chain may be an important autoantigen.¹³⁷ This peptide shows a very low affinity to the relevant MHC molecule.¹³⁸ Thus, while kinetic stability seems to be an important factor in determining the specificity of the T-cell response in CD, the transferability of these findings to autoimmunity is not obvious.

DQ9 as a risk factor for celiac disease

Both DQ2 and DQ8 lack aspartic acid in β 57 (non-Asp β 57) as both carry alanine in this position. This has been proposed to be particularly important for their association with CD. In contrast to DQ8, DQ9 has not been considered a risk factor for CD,⁶⁸ although the genetic epidemiological evidence for this seems to be lacking. The presence of aspartic acid in β 57 of DQ9 is the only difference between DQ8 and DQ9. Interestingly, we found that DQ9-restricted gluten-reactive T cells could be isolated from the small intestine of a CD patient expressing DQ9 and DQ2.2 (Paper III). This shows that DQ9 can be implicated in the T-cell response to CD. We identified a dominant DQ9-restricted gluten epitope, DQ8-glut-H1, also recognized by CD patient expressing DQ8, but uncommonly.

The non-Asp β 57 molecule DQ8 has a preference for a negative charge in P9, while DQ9 has no such preference.⁶⁸ It has also been proposed that the importance of the DQ8 β 57 polymorphism relates to the ability of this molecule to interact with a negatively charged TCR, upon binding a native gluten peptide¹³⁹ (Figure 5). As

expected, our binding data of gluten peptides confirmed that DQ9 is unable to harness a negative charge in P9. Further, the DQ8-glut-H1 epitope bound better than two more dominant DQ8-restricted gluten epitopes to DQ9. This could possibly explain why a T-cell response is generated to this epitope and not to the two more dominant DQ8-restricted epitopes, which bound less well to DQ9. Although we only studied the T-cell response from one CD patient expressing DQ9, it is tempting to speculate that only the DQ8-glut-H1 epitope would bind sufficiently well to DQ9 to initiate a gluten response in CD patients expressing DQ9.

Interestingly, in Western populations, type 1 diabetes shows an association with the non-Asp β 57 DQ molecules encoded by the DR3-DQ2 and DR4-DQ8 haplotypes.^{140, 141} However, this association is not seen in Japan, where the β 57 Asp positive DQ9 on the DR9-DQ9 haplotype is more common and actually seems to be associated with type 1 diabetes.¹⁴²

We demonstrate that DQ9 may contribute to CD development, but does DQ9 give a lower risk for CD than DQ8? Understanding this would help to uncover the importance of the DQ β 57 polymorphism in CD. None of the patients in a study investigating a large number of CD patients expressed DR9-DQ9 without other predisposing HLA genes.⁶⁷ However, this haplotype is rare in Western populations¹⁴³ and concluding based on epidemiologic studies is therefore difficult. The extreme rarity of CD in Japan,¹⁴⁴ despite the fact that the DR9-DQ9 haplotype is found in up to 15% of individuals,¹⁴² may suggest a lower risk for DQ9 than DQ8. However, scarcity of CD in Japan could also be related to the fact that the main cereal in the Japanese diet is rice and not wheat, or to other genetic factors. On a more speculative basis, it seems plausible that, as with DQ2.2 and DQ2.5, DQ9 gives a lower risk than DQ8 for CD, as fewer gluten peptides potentially bind well to DQ9.

DQ8 (non-Asp β 57) and deamidated peptide: <u>Preference of negative charge in P9</u>







Figure 5: Impact of the DQ8 β57 polymorphism on binding of gluten peptides and interaction with TCR (schematic representation). R: arginine; D: aspartate; A: alanine; Q: glutamine; E: glutamic acid; Peptide in blue and MHC in red; Hydrogen bonds represented as dotted lines; Positive charges represented with a +, negative charges with a -.

Importance of transdimers

When investigating the gluten response in HLA heterozygous individuals, taking into account the formation of DQ heterodimers is important. As mentioned, the polymorphism of both DQA1 and DQB1 enables the formation of unique DQ molecules encoded by alleles positioned in *trans*. It has been reported that, in addition to the two cis-encoded DQ heterodimers, both trans-encoded DQ heterodimers formed in DO2/DO8 heterozygous CD patients can present gluten peptides and that their binding motifs are different from the two cis-encoded DQ molecules.^{111, 145, 146} In paper III, we investigated the T-cell response to gluten in the context of the transencoded DQ9.2 molecule and the cis-encoded DQ9.3 molecule in a given CD patient. We found that both these MHC molecules can present peptide to DQ9-restricted gluten-reactive TCCs. DO9.3 presented the identified gluten peptide most efficiently to the TCCs, and we believe this is likely to be the (most) disease relevant molecule. Interestingly, from this patient, expressing also DQ2.2 in cis and DQ2.3 in trans, we recently isolated TCCs that recognized an epitope which could be presented by both the DQ2.2 and the DQ2.3 transdimer (unpublished data). It is possible that other transdimers than those described until now could be involved in presenting gluten

peptides in CD, although this is probably very limited by pairing restrictions.⁴¹ Interestingly, transdimer formation between DQ2 and DQ8 has been reported as a possible explanation for the increased risk observed in individuals with DR3-DQ2/DR4-DQ8 for type 1 diabetes.¹⁴⁷

The pitfall of T-cell proliferation assays

Traditional *in vitro* T-cell proliferation assays, in which APC, T-cells and antigen are mixed together at the start of the assay, do not take into account the offrate of gluten peptides to MHC molecules. APC from DQ2.2 expressing individuals are generally able to present peptide to gluten-reactive T cells from DQ2.5 expressing individuals *in vitro*, and vice a versa. This means that the affinity of these peptides to both DQ2.2 and DQ2.5 is sufficient to activate T cells *in vitro*. Further DQ2.2 and DQ2.5 are so homologous that the TCRs of these TCCs recognize peptide presented on both MHC molecules. Still, the longer off-rate of dominant DQ2.5-restricted gluten epitopes on DQ2.5 than on DQ2.2, and vice a versa, results in T-cell responses towards different epitopes *in vivo* in DQ2.2 and DQ2.5 patients. So, while the *in vitro* T-cell response in a standard T-cell proliferation assay is similar, the *in vivo* activation and expansion of T cells differs. This emphasizes the importance of categorizing an epitope only in the context of the HLA molecules expressed by the patient.

Assessing cytokine production by gluten-reactive T cells (Paper I)

The drawbacks of organ cultures

Gluten-reactive T cells appear to be key players in the celiac lesion and determining their phenotype is important. Many of the studies investigating cytokine production of gluten-reactive T cells rely on an organ culture system. In such organ culture experiments, small intestinal biopsies from treated or untreated CD patients are cultured in the presence of medium (control) or gluten antigen and the production of cytokines from the biopsy is assessed (using for instance flow-cytometry, real-time polymerase chain reaction or western-blot).¹⁴⁸⁻¹⁵⁰A weakness of many of these studies relates to the large interbiopsy variation, which does not always seem to be taken sufficiently into account (Tollefsen et al., unpublished data). Further, the cytokine producing cells are not necessarily antigen specific T cells, as a bystander activation of antigen unspecific cells can potentially be observed. We have performed pilot

experiments in which we sorted proliferating and/or activated T cells four to seven days after stimulation of whole biopsies (or single-cell suspension) with a TG2-treated digest of gluten. Activated and proliferating cells were mainly seen in CD patients after antigen stimulation. These cells were sorted by flow-cytometry and cultured. Still, only a small fraction of the T cells (less than 10%) were found to be antigen-specific upon retesting. Although organ cultures usually assess cytokine production after a shorter time span, our findings indicate that interpretation of the specificity of the T cells activated in an organ culture must be done with caution.

Conflicting data on IL-17 production by gluten-reactive T cells

Instead of using organ cultures, we studied gluten-reactive TCLs, generated from small intestinal biopsies, and visualized the gluten-reactive T cells with DQ2-tetramers. We found that gluten-reactive T cells did not seem to produce IL-17 (or IL-22). Nevertheless, IL-17 mRNA is increased in the celiac lesion¹⁵⁰ and an increased frequency of CD4⁺ T cells producing IL-17 is found in the mucosa of untreated CD patients.¹⁴⁹ The source of IL-17 could therefore be hypothesized to be CD4⁺ T cells with unknown specificity and/or other cells than CD4⁺ T cells.

Our findings are apparently contradictory to the more recent findings of Fernandez et al., which found gliadin-specific T cells producing IL-17 in CD patients.¹⁵¹ There were however several key differences between our studies. First, we generated TCLs from treated CD patients, whereas they generated TCLs from untreated patients. Second, they added IL-23 to their culture medium, which favors *in vitro* expansion of Th17 cells, and cultured Th17 enriched cells separately, in the presence of gliadin. A small proportion of gliadin-specific Th17 cells in this sample may thus have been highly expanded, even though their initial frequency could have been very low. A weakness of our study is a possible bias in the selection of the TCLs used for testing cytokine production. We chose TCLs with a good proliferative response to gluten. Thus, we can not exclude that in these TCLs, gluten-reactive T cells have proliferated more than other T cells *in vitro*. A more extensive proliferation of the gluten-reactive T cells could affect the phenotype of these cells to a larger degree than that of other cells used as an internal control of the culture conditions of the TCL.

We are currently validating direct tetramer staining of biopsy material and could possibly combine this with intracellular staining for cytokine production. This

should eliminate the potential problems associated with long term *in vitro* culturing. To further examine the phenotype of gluten-reactive T cells, we have also initiated a study to investigate the transcription factors of gluten-reactive T cells visualized in peripheral blood of CD patients after a short gluten-challenge. Preliminary data show a dominant Th1 phenotype with high TBX-21 expression (unpublished data).

Production of IL-21 by gluten-reactive T cells

We found that gluten-reactive T cells, visualized in intestinal TCLs using tetramer staining, produce IFN- γ and IL-21. Interestingly, the IL-2/IL-21 locus is associated with CD¹⁵² and IL-21 seems to control the production of the proinflammatory cytokines IFN- γ^{148} and IL-17¹⁴⁹ in the celiac lesion. The cytokine IL-21 has also been shown to have an important role in B-cell differentiation in germinal centers and one could envisage that this cytokine contributes to the production of TG2-specific antibodies.¹⁵³

The pathogenic role of gluten-reactive T cells

We have performed extensive studies of gluten-reactive T cells. How well established is their pathogenic role for CD initiation? Compelling evidence suggests that gluten-reactive CD4⁺ T cells are required for initiation of CD: Gluten-reactive T cells are only found in the small intestine of CD patients and not in the intestine of healthy controls,⁷⁶ and, moreover, there is a strong MHC class II association with CD. One can speculate that these T cells also initiate the large intraepithelial infiltration of CD8⁺ T cells characteristic of CD. Indeed, in a mouse genital viral infection model, IFN- γ produced by CD4⁺ T cells, induced secretion of cytokines exerting a chemotactic effect on CD8⁺ T cells.¹⁵⁴ As previously discussed (see "inflammation in CD"), also the autoantibody response to TG2 appears to be controlled by glutenreactive T cells and such antibodies are only found in individuals with the CD predisposing HLA genes.¹⁵⁵ Nevertheless, CD is not induced in DQ2 transgenic mice also expressing gliadin-specific TCRs.^{156, 157} Thus, in mice models, the appropriate MHC restriction (DQ2) and gluten-reactive T cells alone seem insufficient to trigger CD. Importantly however, little activation of naïve T cells in mesenteric lymph nodes was seen after feeding these mice with gluten antigen.^{156, 157} The failure of these mice to develop a CD-like enteropathy may relate to the absence of background genes that

substitute the human non-MHC CD susceptibility genes, as well as to differences in the gut physiology between man and mouse. Still, while gluten-reactive T cells in the celiac lesion seem necessary, it remains to be shown that activation of these cells is sufficient for initiation of CD.

Peptide vaccination for therapy

A gluten-free diet is the only established treatment in CD, but can be difficult to sustain, has high costs and may be a social burden.¹⁵⁸ However, given the efficiency of a gluten-free diet in the treatment of CD, therapeutic alternatives should have little adverse effects. Based on our growing understanding of the pathogenesis of CD, several alternative approaches have been investigated, such as the digestion of gluten epitopes by exogenous enzymes, transglutaminase inhibitors, DQ2-blockers and different cytokine-blockers.¹⁵⁹ A highly attractive option would be to target the antigen-specific T cells directly by restoring tolerance to gluten. In allergic diseases, subcutaneous injection therapy using a mixture of complex proteins can restore tolerance to the immunogenic antigens and is an established treatment modality. Gluten proteins are unfortunately poorly soluble in water and also contain peptides with possible innate effects. Therefore, peptide-based vaccination, using dominant gluten epitopes has been proposed instead of protein-based vaccination as a possible therapy in CD. A safety study of peptide vaccination using 3 dominant DQ2.5restricted epitopes in DQ2.5 expressing CD patients has already been undertaken (Nexvax2). Designing a vaccine containing only dominant T-cell epitopes could be sufficient. Indeed, tolerance induction after peptide vaccination is believed to occur through generation of regulatory T cells, and spreading of tolerance has been described using peptide vaccination.^{160, 161} Characterization of the epitopes recognized by gluten-reactive T cells of DQ2.2 expressing CD patients is important with regard to eventually designing a peptide vaccine to also this patient group.

Future perspectives

To evaluate the validity of our model of the DQ2.2-DQ2.2-glut-L1 complex, an attempt to solve the crystal structure of this complex will be made (Bergseng et al., ongoing project). One of the current limitations of T-cell studies of gluten-reactive T cells in CD is the necessity to culture the T cells, or to expose the patient to a shortterm gluten challenge. To avoid this, we have developed a staining protocol to visualize gluten-reactive T cells directly in samples from small intestinal mucosa of untreated and treated CD patients expressing DQ2.5 using DQ2-tetramers (unpublished data). Whole transcriptome analysis of gluten-reactive T cells isolated directly from the small intestine could enable further characterization of these important cells. It would also be interesting to investigate whether any gluten-reactive T cells can be visualized in the small intestine of healthy individuals expressing DQ2.5, and if so, whether they have a regulatory phenotype. Preliminary data indicate that a small number of both memory and naïve gluten-reactive T cells can be visualized in peripheral blood of healthy individuals and CD patients (Christophersen et al., unpublished data). It will be interesting to find out whether these memory T cells of healthy individuals have a regulatory phenotype and whether they home to the small intestine.

Conclusion

CD is an important model for understanding the pathogenesis of chronic inflammatory diseases. Gluten-reactive CD4⁺ T cells, producing pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ and IL-21, seem to be central in the pathogenesis. The threshold for disease initiation of CD is partly determined by the MHC genes of the individual. This relates to the importance of stable peptide binding to MHC in determining T-cell responses (as shown with DQ2.2 and DQ2.5; and more speculatively with DQ8 and DQ9). Why is it then so that the great majority of patients with the predisposing MHC genes do not develop CD? Other risk genes, many of which are immune-related explain some of this gap. The rest possibly relates to environmental factors or "bad luck". Whether an active regulatory mechanism (such as antigen-specific regulatory T cells) is found in healthy individuals expressing the risk MHC genes, or whether the absence of a response to gluten is simply a matter of ignorance, remains unknown. Understanding more of the T-cell biology in CD could help us decipher what initiates the disease and possibly open new therapeutic avenues.

References

- Mills KH. TLR-dependent T cell activation in autoimmunity. Nat Rev Immunol 2011;11:807-822.
- Murphy K. Janeway's Immunobiology. New York: Garland Science, Taylor & Francis group, LLC, 2011.
- 3. Kisielow P, Teh HS, Bluthmann H et al. Positive selection of antigen-specific T cells in thymus by restricting MHC molecules. Nature 1988;335:730-733.
- Murphy KM, Heimberger AB, Loh DY. Induction by antigen of intrathymic apoptosis of CD4+CD8+TCRlo thymocytes in vivo. Science 1990;250:1720-1723.
- 5. Ashton-Rickardt PG, Bandeira A, Delaney JR et al. Evidence for a differential avidity model of T cell selection in the thymus. Cell 1994;76:651-663.
- 6. Matzinger P. The danger model: a renewed sense of self. Science 2002;296:301-305.
- 7. Schwartz RH. T cell anergy. Annu Rev Immunol 2003;21:305-334.
- 8. Zhu J, Yamane H, Paul WE. Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations (*). Annu Rev Immunol 2010;28:445-489.
- Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW et al. Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. J Immunol 1986;136:2348-2357.
- 10. Szabo SJ, Kim ST, Costa GL et al. A novel transcription factor, T-bet, directs Th1 lineage commitment. Cell 2000;100:655-669.
- Zheng W, Flavell RA. The transcription factor GATA-3 is necessary and sufficient for Th2 cytokine gene expression in CD4 T cells. Cell 1997;89:587-596.
- 12. Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. Science 2003;299:1057-1061.
- Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L et al. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. Cell 2006;126:1121-1133.
- 14. Puel A, Cypowyj S, Bustamante J et al. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in humans with inborn errors of interleukin-17 immunity. Science 2011;332:65-68.
- 15. Korn T, Bettelli E, Oukka M et al. IL-17 and Th17 Cells. Annu Rev Immunol 2009.
- Koenders MI, van den Berg WB. Translational mini-review series on Th17 cells: are T helper 17 cells really pathogenic in autoimmunity? Clin Exp Immunol 2010;159:131-136.
- 17. Nurieva RI, Chung Y, Martinez GJ et al. Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. Science 2009;325:1001-1005.
- Johnston RJ, Poholek AC, DiToro D et al. Bcl6 and Blimp-1 are reciprocal and antagonistic regulators of T follicular helper cell differentiation. Science 2009;325:1006-1010.
- 19. Crotty S. Follicular helper CD4 T cells (TFH). Annu Rev Immunol 2011;29:621-663.
- Duhen T, Geiger R, Jarrossay D et al. Production of interleukin 22 but not interleukin 17 by a subset of human skin-homing memory T cells. Nat Immunol 2009;10:857-863.

- Trifari S, Kaplan CD, Tran EH et al. Identification of a human helper T cell population that has abundant production of interleukin 22 and is distinct from T(H)-17, T(H)1 and T(H)2 cells. Nat Immunol 2009;10:864-871.
- 22. Veldhoen M, Uyttenhove C, van Snick J et al. Transforming growth factorbeta 'reprograms' the differentiation of T helper 2 cells and promotes an interleukin 9-producing subset. Nat Immunol 2008;9:1341-1346.
- 23. O'Shea JJ, Paul WE. Mechanisms underlying lineage commitment and plasticity of helper CD4+ T cells. Science 2010;327:1098-1102.
- 24. Roark CL, Simonian PL, Fontenot AP et al. gammadelta T cells: an important source of IL-17. Curr Opin Immunol 2008;20:353-357.
- 25. Ferretti S, Bonneau O, Dubois GR et al. IL-17, produced by lymphocytes and neutrophils, is necessary for lipopolysaccharide-induced airway neutrophilia: IL-15 as a possible trigger. J Immunol 2003;170:2106-2112.
- 26. Bettelli E, Korn T, Oukka M et al. Induction and effector functions of T(H)17 cells. Nature 2008;453:1051-1057.
- Veldhoen M, Withers DR. Immunology. Innate lymphoid cell relations. Science 2010;330:594-595.
- 28. Korn T, Bettelli E, Gao W et al. IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory T(H)17 cells. Nature 2007;448:484-487.
- 29. Nurieva R, Yang XO, Martinez G et al. Essential autocrine regulation by IL-21 in the generation of inflammatory T cells. Nature 2007;448:480-483.
- Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R et al. IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. Nat Immunol 2007;8:967-974.
- 31. Chtanova T, Tangye SG, Newton R et al. T follicular helper cells express a distinctive transcriptional profile, reflecting their role as non-Th1/Th2 effector cells that provide help for B cells. J Immunol 2004;173:68-78.
- 32. Parrish-Novak J, Dillon SR, Nelson A et al. Interleukin 21 and its receptor are involved in NK cell expansion and regulation of lymphocyte function. Nature 2000;408:57-63.
- 33. Ettinger R, Kuchen S, Lipsky PE. The role of IL-21 in regulating B-cell function in health and disease. Immunol Rev 2008;223:60-86.
- Zenewicz LA, Flavell RA. Recent advances in IL-22 biology. Int Immunol 2011;23:159-163.
- Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ et al. TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17producing T cells. Immunity 2006;24:179-189.
- Buonocore S, Ahern PP, Uhlig HH et al. Innate lymphoid cells drive interleukin-23-dependent innate intestinal pathology. Nature 2010;464:1371-1375.
- 37. Du Pré MF, Samsom JN. Adaptive T-cell responses regulating oral tolerance to protein antigen. Allergy 2011;66:478-490.
- Iliev ID, Mileti E, Matteoli G et al. Intestinal epithelial cells promote colitisprotective regulatory T-cell differentiation through dendritic cell conditioning. Mucosal Immunol 2009;2:340-350.
- Rimoldi M, Chieppa M, Salucci V et al. Intestinal immune homeostasis is regulated by the crosstalk between epithelial cells and dendritic cells. Nat Immunol 2005;6:507-514.

- 40. Bevan MJ. Cross-priming for a secondary cytotoxic response to minor H antigens with H-2 congenic cells which do not cross-react in the cytotoxic assay. J Exp Med 1976;143:1283-1288.
- Kwok WW, Kovats S, Thurtle P et al. HLA-DQ allelic polymorphisms constrain patterns of class II heterodimer formation. J Immunol 1993;150:2263-2272.
- 42. Brown JH, Jardetzky TS, Gorga JC et al. Three-dimensional structure of the human class II histocompatibility antigen HLA-DR1. Nature 1993;364:33-39.
- 43. Jones EY, Fugger L, Strominger JL et al. MHC class II proteins and disease: a structural perspective. Nat Rev Immunol 2006;6:271-282.
- 44. Fallang LE, Bergseng E, Hotta K et al. Differences in the risk of celiac disease associated with HLA-DQ2.5 or HLA-DQ2.2 are related to sustained gluten antigen presentation. Nat Immunol 2009;10:1096-1101.
- 45. Jardetzky TS, Brown JH, Gorga JC et al. Crystallographic analysis of endogenous peptides associated with HLA-DR1 suggests a common, polyproline II-like conformation for bound peptides. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:734-738.
- Marsh SG, Albert ED, Bodmer WF et al. An update to HLA nomenclature, 2010. Bone Marrow Transplant 2010;45:846-848.
- Abadie V, Sollid LM, Barreiro LB et al. Integration of genetic and immunological insights into a model of celiac disease pathogenesis. Annu Rev Immunol 2011;29:493-525.
- Robinson J, Waller MJ, Fail SC et al. The IMGT/HLA database. Nucleic Acids Res 2009;37:D1013-D1017.
- Thorsby E, Lie BA. HLA associated genetic predisposition to autoimmune diseases: Genes involved and possible mechanisms. Transpl Immunol 2005;14:175-182.
- Tack GJ, Verbeek WH, Schreurs MW et al. The spectrum of celiac disease: epidemiology, clinical aspects and treatment. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010;7:204-213.
- 51. Maki M, Mustalahti K, Kokkonen J et al. Prevalence of Celiac disease among children in Finland. N Engl J Med 2003;348:2517-2524.
- Dubé C, Rostom A, Sy R et al. The prevalence of celiac disease in averagerisk and at-risk Western European populations: a systematic review. Gastroenterology 2005;128:S57-S67.
- 53. Lohi S, Mustalahti K, Kaukinen K et al. Increasing prevalence of coeliac disease over time. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007;26:1217-1225.
- 54. Kagnoff MF. AGA Institute Medical Position Statement on the Diagnosis and Management of Celiac Disease. Gastroenterology 2006;131:1977-1980.
- Husby S, Koletzko S, Korponay-Szabo IR et al. European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition Guidelines for the Diagnosis of Coeliac Disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2012;54:136-160.
- 56. Rubio-Tapia A, Murray JA. Classification and management of refractory coeliac disease. Gut 2010;59:547-557.
- 57. Brottveit M, Lundin KE. [Cancer risk in coeliac disease]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 2008;128:2312-2315.
- Marsh MN, Crowe PT. Morphology of the mucosal lesion in gluten sensitivity. Baillieres Clin Gastroenterol 1995;9:273-293.

- Oberhuber G, Granditsch G, Vogelsang H. The histopathology of coeliac disease: time for a standardized report scheme for pathologists. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1999;11:1185-1194.
- Thomas HJ, Ahmad T, Rajaguru C et al. Contribution of histological, serological, and genetic factors to the clinical heterogeneity of adult-onset coeliac disease. Scand J Gastroenterol 2009;44:1076-1083.
- Weizman Z, Ben-Zion YZ, Binsztok M et al. Correlation of clinical characteristics and small bowel histopathology in celiac disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1997;24:555-558.
- 62. Greco L, Romino R, Coto I et al. The first large population based twin study of coeliac disease. Gut 2002;50:624-628.
- 63. Nistico L, Fagnani C, Coto I et al. Concordance, disease progression, and heritability of coeliac disease in Italian twins. Gut 2006;55:803-808.
- 64. Trynka G, Hunt KA, Bockett NA et al. Dense genotyping identifies and localizes multiple common and rare variant association signals in celiac disease. Nat Genet 2011;43:1193-1201.
- 65. Cotsapas C, Voight BF, Rossin E et al. Pervasive sharing of genetic effects in autoimmune disease. PLoS Genet 2011;7:e1002254.
- 66. Sollid LM, Markussen G, Ek J et al. Evidence for a primary association of celiac disease to a particular HLA-DQ α/β heterodimer. J Exp Med 1989;169:345-350.
- 67. Karell K, Louka AS, Moodie SJ et al. HLA types in celiac disease patients not carrying the DQA1*05-DQB1*02 (DQ2) heterodimer: results from the European Genetics Cluster on Celiac Disease. Hum Immunol 2003;64:469-477.
- 68. Moustakas AK, van de Wal Y, Routsias J et al. Structure of celiac diseaseassociated HLA-DQ8 and non-associated HLA-DQ9 alleles in complex with two disease-specific epitopes. Int Immunol 2000;12:1157-1166.
- Sollid LM, Qiao SW, Anderson RP et al. Nomenclature and listing of celiac disease relevant gluten T-cell epitopes restricted by HLA-DQ molecules. Immunogenetics 2012; In press
- 70. Dieterich W, Ehnis T, Bauer M et al. Identification of tissue transglutaminase as the autoantigen of celiac disease. Nat Med 1997;3:797-801.
- Molberg Ø, McAdam SN, Korner R et al. Tissue transglutaminase selectively modifies gliadin peptides that are recognized by gut-derived T cells in celiac disease. Nat Med 1998;4:713-717.
- van de Wal Y, Kooy Y, van Veelen P et al. Selective deamidation by tissue transglutaminase strongly enhances gliadin-specific T cell reactivity. J Immunol 1998;161:1585-1588.
- 73. Arentz-Hansen H, Korner R, Molberg Ø et al. The intestinal T cell response to alpha-gliadin in adult celiac disease is focused on a single deamidated glutamine targeted by tissue transglutaminase. J Exp Med 2000;191:603-612.
- 74. Vader LW, De Ru A, van der Wal Y et al. Specificity of tissue transglutaminase explains cereal toxicity in celiac disease. J Exp Med 2002;195:643-649.
- 75. Fleckenstein B, Molberg Ø, Qiao SW et al. Gliadin T cell epitope selection by tissue transglutaminase in celiac disease. Role of enzyme specificity and pH influence on the transamidation versus deamidation process. J Biol Chem 2002;277:34109-34116.

- Molberg Ø, Kett K, Scott H et al. Gliadin specific, HLA DQ2-restricted T cells are commonly found in small intestinal biopsies from coeliac disease patients, but not from controls. Scand J Immunol 1997;46:103-108.
- 77. Lundin KE, Scott H, Fausa O et al. T cells from the small intestinal mucosa of a DR4, DQ7/DR4, DQ8 celiac disease patient preferentially recognize gliadin when presented by DQ8. Hum Immunol 1994;41:285-291.
- Lundin KE, Scott H, Hansen T et al. Gliadin-specific, HLA-DQ(α1*0501,β1*0201) restricted T cells isolated from the small intestinal mucosa of celiac disease patients. J Exp Med 1993;178:187-196.
- Nilsen EM, Lundin KE, Krajci P et al. Gluten specific, HLA-DQ restricted T cells from coeliac mucosa produce cytokines with Th1 or Th0 profile dominated by interferon gamma. Gut 1995;37:766-776.
- Gianfrani C, Levings MK, Sartirana C et al. Gliadin-specific type 1 regulatory T cells from the intestinal mucosa of treated celiac patients inhibit pathogenic T cells. J Immunol 2006;177:4178-4186.
- Gianfrani C, Troncone R, Mugione P et al. Celiac disease association with CD8+ T cell responses: identification of a novel gliadin-derived HLA-A2restricted epitope. J Immunol 2003;170:2719-2726.
- Mazzarella G, Stefanile R, Camarca A et al. Gliadin activates HLA class Irestricted CD8+ T cells in celiac disease intestinal mucosa and induces the enterocyte apoptosis. Gastroenterology 2008;134:1017-1027.
- Meresse B, Chen Z, Ciszewski C et al. Coordinated induction by IL15 of a TCR-independent NKG2D signaling pathway converts CTL into lymphokineactivated killer cells in celiac disease. Immunity 2004;21:357-366.
- Hüe S, Mention JJ, Monteiro RC et al. A direct role for NKG2D/MICA interaction in villous atrophy during celiac disease. Immunity 2004;21:367-377.
- Meresse B, Curran SA, Ciszewski C et al. Reprogramming of CTLs into natural killer-like cells in celiac disease. J Exp Med 2006;203:1343-1355.
- 86. Di Niro R, Mesin L, Zheng N-Y et al. Abundance and unique repertoire of plasma cells secreting IgA autoantibodies to transglutaminase 2 in the intestinal lesion of celiac disease. Nat Med 2012; In press
- 87. Sollid LM, Molberg Ø, McAdam S et al. Autoantibodies in coeliac disease: tissue transglutaminase--guilt by association? Gut 1997;41:851-852.
- Schwertz E, Kahlenberg F, Sack U et al. Serologic assay based on gliadinrelated nonapeptides as a highly sensitive and specific diagnostic aid in celiac disease. Clin Chem 2004;50:2370-2375.
- Jabri B, Sollid LM. Tissue-mediated control of immunopathology in coeliac disease. Nat Rev Immunol 2009;9:858-870.
- Maiuri L, Ciacci C, Ricciardelli I et al. Association between innate response to gliadin and activation of pathogenic T cells in coeliac disease. Lancet 2003;362:30-37.
- Barone MV, Gimigliano A, Castoria G et al. Growth factor-like activity of gliadin, an alimentary protein: implications for coeliac disease. Gut 2007;56:480-488.
- Altman JD, Moss PA, Goulder PJ et al. Phenotypic analysis of antigenspecific T lymphocytes. Science 1996;274:94-96.
- Cameron TO, Norris PJ, Patel A et al. Labeling antigen-specific CD4(+) T cells with class II MHC oligomers. J Immunol Methods 2002;268:51-69.

- Ráki M, Fallang LE, Brottveit M et al. Tetramer visualization of gut-homing gluten-specific T cells in the peripheral blood of celiac disease patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:2831-2836.
- 95. Wieser H. Chemistry of gluten proteins. Food Microbiol 2007;24:115-119.
- Shewry P, Tatham A, Kasarda D. Cereal proteins and coeliac disease. In: Marsh MN, ed. Coeliac Disease. Oxford, U. K: Blackwell Scientific Publications, 1992:305-348.
- 97. Shan L, Molberg Ø, Parrot I et al. Structural basis for gluten intolerance in celiac sprue. Science 2002;297:2275-2279.
- Shan L, Qiao SW, Arentz-Hansen H et al. Identification and analysis of multivalent proteolytically resistant peptides from gluten: implications for celiac sprue. J Proteome Res 2005;4:1732-1741.
- 99. Qiao SW, Sollid LM, Blumberg RS. Antigen presentation in celiac disease. Curr Opin Immunol 2009;21:111-117.
- Vader LW, Stepniak DT, Bunnik EM et al. Characterization of cereal toxicity for celiac disease patients based on protein homology in grains. Gastroenterology 2003;125:1105-1113.
- Tye-Din JA, Stewart JA, Dromey JA et al. Comprehensive, quantitative mapping of T cell epitopes in gluten in celiac disease. Sci Transl Med 2010;2:41ra51.
- 102. Garsed K, Scott BB. Can oats be taken in a gluten-free diet? A systematic review. Scand J Gastroenterol 2007;42:171-178.
- 103. Lundin KE, Nilsen EM, Scott HG et al. Oats induced villous atrophy in coeliac disease. Gut 2003;52:1649-1652.
- 104. Arentz-Hansen H, Fleckenstein B, Molberg Ø et al. The molecular basis for oat intolerance in patients with celiac disease. PLoS Med 2004;1:e1.
- 105. Sjöström H, Lundin KE, Molberg Ø et al. Identification of a gliadin T-cell epitope in coeliac disease: general importance of gliadin deamidation for intestinal T-cell recognition. Scand J Immunol 1998;48:111-115.
- 106. Vader W, Kooy Y, van Veelen PA et al. The gluten response in children with celiac disease is directed toward multiple gliadin and glutenin peptides. Gastroenterology 2002;122:1729-1737.
- 107. Camarca A, Anderson RP, Mamone G et al. Intestinal T cell responses to gluten peptides are largely heterogeneous: implications for a peptide-based therapy in celiac disease. J Immunol 2009;182:4158-4166.
- Arentz-Hansen H, McAdam SN, Molberg Ø et al. Celiac lesion T cells recognize epitopes that cluster in regions of gliadins rich in proline residues. Gastroenterology 2002;123:803-809.
- 109. Qiao SW, Bergseng E, Molberg Ø et al. Refining the rules of gliadin T cell epitope binding to the disease-associated DQ2 molecule in celiac disease: importance of proline spacing and glutamine deamidation. J Immunol 2005;175:254-261.
- 110. van de Wal Y, Kooy YM, van Veelen PA et al. Glutenin is involved in the gluten-driven mucosal T cell response. Eur J Immunol 1999;29:3133-3139.
- 111. Tollefsen S, Arentz-Hansen H, Fleckenstein B et al. HLA-DQ2 and -DQ8 signatures of gluten T cell epitopes in celiac disease. J Clin Invest 2006;116:2226-2236.
- 112. van de Wal Y, Kooy YM, van Veelen PA et al. Small intestinal T cells of celiac disease patients recognize a natural pepsin fragment of gliadin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95:10050-10054.

- 113. Henrickson SE, Mempel TR, Mazo IB et al. T cell sensing of antigen dose governs interactive behavior with dendritic cells and sets a threshold for T cell activation. Nat Immunol 2008;9:282-291.
- 114. Kim CY, Quarsten H, Bergseng E et al. Structural basis for HLA-DQ2mediated presentation of gluten epitopes in celiac disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101:4175-4179.
- 115. Vartdal F, Johansen BH, Friede T et al. The peptide binding motif of the disease associated HLA-DQ (alpha 1* 0501, beta 1* 0201) molecule. Eur J Immunol 1996;26:2764-2772.
- 116. Jüse U, van de Wal Y, Koning F et al. Design of new high-affinity peptide ligands for human leukocyte antigen-DQ2 using a positional scanning peptide library. Hum Immunol 2010;71:475-481.
- 117. Kwok WW, Domeier ML, Raymond FC et al. Allele-specific motifs characterize HLA-DQ interactions with a diabetes-associated peptide derived from glutamic acid decarboxylase. J Immunol 1996;156:2171-2177.
- 118. Godkin A, Friede T, Davenport M et al. Use of eluted peptide sequence data to identify the binding characteristics of peptides to the insulin-dependent diabetes susceptibility allele HLA-DQ8 (DQ 3.2). Int Immunol 1997;9:905-911.
- 119. Dørum S, Arntzen MO, Qiao SW et al. The preferred substrates for transglutaminase 2 in a complex wheat gluten digest are Peptide fragments harboring celiac disease T-cell epitopes. PLoS ONE 2010;5:e14056.
- 120. Sollid LM. Coeliac disease: dissecting a complex inflammatory disorder. Nat Rev Immunol 2002;2:647-655.
- 121. Anderson RP, Degano P, Godkin AJ et al. In vivo antigen challenge in celiac disease identifies a single transglutaminase-modified peptide as the dominant A-gliadin T-cell epitope. Nat Med 2000;6:337-342.
- 122. Molberg Ø, McAdam SN, Lundin KE, Sollid LM. Studies of gliadin-specific T cells in celiac disease. In: Marsh MN, ed. Celiac disease. Methods and protocols. Totowa, New Jersey, USA: Humana, 2000:105-124.
- Shi G, Cox CA, Vistica BP et al. Phenotype switching by inflammationinducing polarized Th17 cells, but not by Th1 cells. J Immunol 2008;181:7205-7213.
- 124. Lee YK, Turner H, Maynard CL et al. Late developmental plasticity in the T helper 17 lineage. Immunity 2009;30:92-107.
- 125. Hombach AA, Kofler D, Hombach A et al. Effective proliferation of human regulatory T cells requires a strong costimulatory CD28 signal that cannot be substituted by IL-2. J Immunol 2007;179:7924-7931.
- 126. Vader W, Stepniak D, Kooy Y et al. The HLA-DQ2 gene dose effect in celiac disease is directly related to the magnitude and breadth of gluten-specific T cell responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100:12390-12395.
- 127. Stone JD, Artyomov MN, Chervin AS et al. Interaction of streptavidin-based peptide-MHC oligomers (tetramers) with cell-surface TCRs. J Immunol 2011;187:6281-6290.
- 128. van de Wal Y, Kooy YM, Drijfhout JW et al. Unique peptide binding characteristics of the disease-associated DQ(α 1*0501, β 1*0201) vs the nondisease-associated DQ(α 1*0201, β 1*0202) molecule. Immunogenetics 1997;46:484-492.

- 129. Hartman IZ, Kim A, Cotter RJ et al. A reductionist cell-free major histocompatibility complex class II antigen processing system identifies immunodominant epitopes. Nat Med 2010;16:1333-1340.
- Louka AS, Nilsson S, Olsson M et al. HLA in coeliac disease families: a novel test of risk modification by the 'other' haplotype when at least one DQA1*05-DQB1*02 haplotype is carried. Tissue Antigens 2002;60:147-154.
- Schirru E, Jores RD, Cicotto L et al. High frequency of low-risk human leukocyte antigen class II genotypes in latent celiac disease. Hum Immunol 2011;72:179-182.
- 132. Sperandeo MP, Tosco A, Izzo V et al. Potential celiac patients: a model of celiac disease pathogenesis. PLoS ONE 2011;6:e21281.
- 133. Al-Toma A, Goerres MS, Meijer JW et al. Human leukocyte antigen-DQ2 homozygosity and the development of refractory celiac disease and enteropathy-associated T-cell lymphoma. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006;4:315-319.
- 134. Lazarski CA, Chaves FA, Sant AJ. The impact of DM on MHC class IIrestricted antigen presentation can be altered by manipulation of MHC-peptide kinetic stability. J Exp Med 2006;203:1319-1328.
- Weaver JM, Chaves FA, Sant AJ. Abortive activation of CD4 T cell responses during competitive priming in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:8647-8652.
- 136. Liu GY, Fairchild PJ, Smith RM et al. Low avidity recognition of self-antigen by T cells permits escape from central tolerance. Immunity 1995;3:407-415.
- Babad J, Geliebter A, DiLorenzo TP. T-cell autoantigens in the non-obese diabetic mouse model of autoimmune diabetes. Immunology 2010;131:459-465.
- 138. Levisetti MG, Suri A, Petzold SJ et al. The insulin-specific T cells of nonobese diabetic mice recognize a weak MHC-binding segment in more than one form. J Immunol 2007;178:6051-6057.
- 139. Hovhannisyan Z, Weiss A, Martin A et al. The role of HLA-DQ8 β 57 polymorphism in the anti-gluten T-cell response in coeliac disease. Nature 2008;456:534-538.
- 140. Steck AK, Rewers MJ. Genetics of type 1 diabetes. Clin Chem 2011;57:176-185.
- 141. Todd JA, Bell JI, McDevitt HO. HLA-DQ beta gene contributes to susceptibility and resistance to insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Nature 1987;329:599-604.
- 142. Sugihara S, Sakamaki T, Konda S et al. Association of HLA-DR, DQ genotype with different beta-cell functions at IDDM diagnosis in Japanese children. Diabetes 1997;46:1893-1897.
- 143. Klitz W, Maiers M, Spellman S et al. New HLA haplotype frequency reference standards: high-resolution and large sample typing of HLA DR-DQ haplotypes in a sample of European Americans. Tissue Antigens 2003;62:296-307.
- 144. Kagnoff MF. Celiac disease: pathogenesis of a model immunogenetic disease. J Clin Invest 2007;117:41-49.
- 145. Kooy-Winkelaar Y, van Lummel M, Moustakas AK et al. Gluten-Specific T Cells Cross-React between HLA-DQ8 and the HLA-DQ2alpha/DQ8beta Transdimer. J Immunol 2011;187:5123-5129.

- 146. van Lummel M, van Veelen PA, Zaldumbide A et al. The type 1 diabetes associated HLA-DQ8-trans dimer accomodates a unique peptide repertoire. J Biol Chem 2011.
- 147. Koeleman BP, Lie BA, Undlien DE et al. Genotype effects and epistasis in type 1 diabetes and HLA-DQ trans dimer associations with disease. Genes Immun 2004;5:381-388.
- 148. Fina D, Sarra M, Caruso R et al. Interleukin-21 Contributes To The Mucosal T Helper Cell Type 1 Response In Celiac Disease. Gut 2007.
- Monteleone I, Sarra M, Del Vecchio BG et al. Characterization of IL-17Aproducing cells in Celiac disease mucosa. J Immunol 2010;184:2211-2218.
- Castellanos-Rubio A, Santin I, Irastorza I et al. TH17 (and TH1) signatures of intestinal biopsies of CD patients in response to gliadin. Autoimmunity 2009;42:69-73.
- 151. Fernandez S, Molina IJ, Romero P et al. Characterization of gliadin-specific Th17 cells from the mucosa of celiac disease patients. Am J Gastroenterol 2011;106:528-538.
- 152. van Heel DA, Franke L, Hunt KA et al. A genome-wide association study for celiac disease identifies risk variants in the region harboring IL2 and IL21. Nat Genet 2007;39:827-829.
- 153. De Nitto D, Monteleone I, Franze E et al. Involvement of interleukin-15 and interleukin-21, two gamma-chain-related cytokines, in celiac disease. World J Gastroenterol 2009;15:4609-4614.
- 154. Nakanishi Y, Lu B, Gerard C et al. CD8(+) T lymphocyte mobilization to virus-infected tissue requires CD4(+) T-cell help. Nature 2009;462:510-513.
- Björck S, Brundin C, Lörinc E et al. Screening detects a high proportion of celiac disease in young HLA-genotyped children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2010;50:49-53.
- 156. Du Pré MF, Kozijn AE, van Berkel LA et al. Tolerance to ingested deamidated gliadin in mice is maintained by splenic, type 1 regulatory T cells. Gastroenterology 2011;141:610-20, 620.
- 157. de Kauwe AL, Chen Z, Anderson RP et al. Resistance to celiac disease in humanized HLA-DR3-DQ2-transgenic mice expressing specific anti-gliadin CD4+ T cells. J Immunol 2009;182:7440-7450.
- 158. Whitaker JK, West J, Holmes GK et al. Patient perceptions of the burden of coeliac disease and its treatment in the UK. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2009;29:1131-1136.
- 159. Schuppan D, Junker Y, Barisani D. Celiac disease: from pathogenesis to novel therapies. Gastroenterology 2009;137:1912-1933.
- 160. Campbell JD, Buckland KF, McMillan SJ et al. Peptide immunotherapy in allergic asthma generates IL-10-dependent immunological tolerance associated with linked epitope suppression. J Exp Med 2009;206:1535-1547.
- 161. Wraith DC. Therapeutic peptide vaccines for treatment of autoimmune diseases. Immunol Lett 2009;122:134-136.

Erratum

Paper I:

Introduction, second paragraph, "T_R" should be removed.

'TCL KT CDE3' should in all instances in paper read 'TCL KT CD3'

Figure 1: The order of the bars in the panel showing IL-21 production was inadvertently interchanged. Further, TCC 430.1.1.142 is α -I restricted, not α -II restricted. These errors do not affect the conclusion drawn from this figure. The correct figure is displayed below:



Figure 2: 'pg/ml⁻¹' as indicated on the y-axis should read 'pg/ml'. Table 1, row 1: 'TCL 548.A.1.4' should read 'TCL 48.A.1.4'.

Figure 4 and Figure 5: In the legends of both figures '18-24h' should read '5h'.

Ι

Evidence that HLA-DQ9 confers risk to celiac disease by presence of DQ9-restricted gluten-specific T cells

Michael Bodd¹, Stig Tollefsen¹, Elin Bergseng², Knut E.A. Lundin¹, Ludvig M.Sollid^{1,2}

¹Centre for Immune Regulation and Department of Immunology, Oslo University Hospital-Rikshospitalet, 0027 Oslo, Norway ²Centre for Immune Regulation and Department of Immunology, University of Oslo, 0027 Oslo, Norway

We describe the gluten T-cell response of a DR7DQ2/DR9DQ9 heterozygous celiac disease patient CD555. Interestingly, this patient had T cells recognizing gluten in the context of HLA molecules of both haplotypes. For the DR9DQ9 haplotype, DQ9 was identified as the antigen-presenting molecule. As DQ9 carries aspartate at DQ β 57 but is otherwise identical to DQ8 and not considered associated with celiac disease, we aimed to characterize this DQ9-restricted T-cell response in detail. By fractionation of pepsin-trypsin digested gliadin we identified an epitope stimulatory for several T-cell clones. This epitope was identical to an epitope (DQ8-glut-1) previously identified in DQ8 patients. In CD555, this was the dominant DQ9-restricted epitope, while no T-cell response was found towards two other DQ8-restricted epitopes. These findings correlated with peptide binding data demonstrating that this epitope bound better to DQ9 than the two other DQ8-restricted epitopes. Whereas glutamine to glutamate exchange at P9 improved binding of all three epitopes to DQ8, no such effect was observed for DQ9. The differential ability of DQ8 and DQ9 to harness a negatively charged anchor at P9 may result in fewer potential gluten epitopes in DQ9 patients. Our data further indicate that DQ9 is a susceptibility factor for celiac disease.

1. INTRODUCTION

The absence of aspartate at position β 57 is considered a particularly important functional feature of the type 1 diabetes and celiac disease (CD) associated HLA-DQ8 molecule [1-3]. HLA-DQ9 (DQA1*03/DQB1*03:03) differs from HLA-DQ8 (DQA1*03/DQB1*03:02) only in position β 57 where DQ8 has alanine and DQ9 has aspartate. This difference leads to the loss of a salt bridge between arginine α 76 and aspartate β 57 of DQ8 and hence to a preference of negatively charged peptides in P9 of the peptide binding groove of DQ8, but not of DQ9 [3-5]. In support of the importance of the β 57 polymorphism it has been stated that DQ9 is not associated with CD [5]. It has recently been proposed that the remarkable association of DQ8 to CD is related to the ability to recruit negatively charged TCR and that this is linked to the β 57 polymorphism [2]. However the effect of this polymorphism on peptide-MHC interaction has not been fully investigated.

Gluten-reactive CD4⁺ T cells are found in the intestinal mucosa of CD patients but not of healthy controls [6]. Most intestinal gluten-reactive T cells respond to gluten peptides only after conversion by the enzyme transglutaminase 2 (TG2) of certain glutamine residues to glutamic acid [7]. In this paper, we found that DQ9-restricted gluten-reactive CD4⁺ T cells could be isolated from the small intestine of a CD patient expressing DQ9 and DQ2.2. We established T-cell clones and identified the epitope recognized. We further investigated the binding of gluten peptides to DQ8 and DQ9. Our findings suggest that DQ9 can be implicated in CD, and they shed light on the importance of the HLA-DQ β 57 polymorphism for disease initiation.

2. SUBJECTS AND METHODS 2.1. Subject

Intestinal biopsies were obtained on two separate occasions from an adult female patient (CD555). She carried the serological HLA type DR7DR9/DQ2DQ3 and genomic DQ type DQA1*02:01/03:02 and DQB1*02/03:03. Based on known linkage disequilibria, she is very likely to carry the DR7DQ2 and DR9DQ9 haplotypes. She had a diagnosis of CD from 1999 which was in accordance with the American Gastroenterology Association guidelines [8] with a positive endomysium antibody test and histology showing Marsh 3C. Upon accidental exposure to gluten the patient has experienced abdominal pain and diarrhea. As a child she suffered from abdominal pain and failure to thrive. Biopsies were taken both in 2004 as part of routine follow-up and in 2007 as part of a study examining the gluten response in patients with DQ2.2 (Bodd et al., Gastroenterology, in press). She was on a gluten-free diet and was well-treated on both occasions. In 2010, the patient also accepted to undergo an oral bread challenge (see below). The regional committee for medical research ethics had approved the relevant protocols, and the patient gave written consents before participating.

2.2. Oral bread-challenge

An oral gluten challenge was performed as previously described [9,10]. In brief, the patient ingested four slices of white bread daily for 3 days and blood was drawn on day 6 followed by peripheral blood mononuclear cell isolation by density gradient centrifugation. 4×10^5 peripheral blood mononuclear cells and various peptides were added to wells of 96-well plates and incubated overnight at 37°C. Single-cell secretion of interferon- γ was detected using an interferon- γ ELISPOT assay [9,10].

2.3. Antigen

As complex cereal antigens we used chymotrypsin digested gluten (hereafter referred to as gluten) and pepsin and trypsin digested gliadin (Sigma, 9007-90-3) [11]. Treatment with TG2 was performed as previously described [11]. Peptides were purchased from GLS Biochem, EZ Biolabs or were synthesized in house. The sequences of the synthetic gluten peptides used can be found in Supplementary Table 1.

2.4. Fractionation of gliadin digest

Fractionation of pepsin and trypsin digested gliadin was done by gel filtration and reverse phase HPLC. The gliadin digest was first fractionated by gel filtration (Äkta; Superdex peptide 10/300 GL column; GE healthcare; 1ml/min in milli-Q water). A fraction stimulating T-cell clone (TCC) 555.A.1.4.S.6 was then further fractionated by reverse phase HPLC (Agilent 1100, Zorbax 300SB-C18 column using an acetonitrile gradient from 5-100%; 1ml/min; 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid). A T-cell stimulating fraction (fraction 14) was then analyzed by LC-MS/MS (Q-TOF; Bruker Daltonics). Peptides were separated on an analytical column (150mm x 0.075 mm) packed with 100Å C18 3.5µm particles (G&T Septech). Data were acquired using microTOF control v2.0 and processed using DataAnalysis v3.4. The data were analyzed using the Mascot search engine and Proteome Discoverer software version 1.0 (Thermo Scientific) using an in house built database of Triticum aestivum derived proteins.

2.5. T-cell assays

Generation of gluten-reactive T-cell lines (TCL) and proliferative T-cell assays were performed as previously described [11]. Irradiated B lymphoblastoid B-cell lines (B-LCL) 9050 (DQA1*02:01/ DQB1*02:02; DQ2.2), 9092 (DQA1*03:01/ DQB1*03:02; DQ8), 9076 (DQA1*03:02/DQB1*03:03; DQ9.3), (DQA1*03:03/DQB1*02:02; DQ2.3) 9102 and 9052 (DQA1*02:01/DQB1*03:03; DQ9.2) were used as antigenpresenting cells (APC). Notably, the mature $DQ\alpha$ chains encoded by DQA1*03:02 and DQA1*03:03 are identical, but different from DQA1*03:01 at residue α 160 (aspartate instead of alanine), which is unlikely to affect peptide binding and Tcell recognition. To assess HLA restriction of the TCC, APC were incubated with anti-DQ (SPV-L3), anti-DR (B8.11) or anti-DP (B7/21) antibodies (final concentration of 20µg/ml) for 30 min prior to addition of antigen. In experiment from figure 2D, the APC were incubated with peptide overnight before free peptide was washed away and T cells were added.

2.6. Peptide MHC off-rate assay

Functional peptide off-rate assays were performed as previously described [12]. In brief, antigen-pulsed irradiated APC were incubated for various time points without antigen before adding T cells and measuring T-cell proliferation.

2.7. Competitive binding assay

Peptide binding was measured in a competitive binding assay as described previously, using the B-LCL 9092 and 9076 as source of HLA-DQ8 and HLA-DQ9 molecules, respectively [13,14]. IC_{50} values (half maximal inhibitory concentration) were established as the concentration of peptide required to inhibit the binding of an indicator peptide (biotin-PEG-FESTGNLIAPEYG; used at $0.2\mu M$ for DQ8 and $2\mu M$ for DQ9) by 50%. Three independent 4-fold titration experiments were performed.

2.8 Analysis of HLA-DQ expression

Staining of B-LCL 9076 and 9052 was performed using a monoclonal antibody to HLA-DQ (clone FN81, IgG2a, PE conjugated; Diatec) or an IgG2a isotype control antibody conjugated with PE. Analysis was performed on a FACSCalibur (BD Biosciences).

3. RESULTS

3.1. Identification of DQ9-restricted epitope

The gluten response in one CD patient (CD555) expressing both DQ2.2 and DQ9 was examined. A total of ten intestinal gluten-reactive TCL were generated. The TCL were initially tested for recognition of TG2 treated gluten presented by homozygous B-LCL carrying DR7DQ2 and DR9DQ9 haplotypes. Six gluten-reactive TCL made a positive response with DR7DQ2 APC of which four also made a response with DR9DQ9 APC. Five TCL (B1.1, A.1.1.S, A.1.4.S, B.2.2, A.0.4.S) made a response with DR9DQ9 APC but only weakly with DR7DQ2 APC (Figure 1). These TCL were considered particularly interesting, and we generated gluten-reactive TCC from three of these TCL. Three gluten-reactive TCC were obtained from TCL 555.A.1.4.S, one from TCL 555.A.1.1.S (originally from same biopsy) and eleven from TCL 555.B.2.2 (different biopsy from different time point). The TCC made a response to gluten in the context of DR9DQ9 but not DR7DQ2 APC (Figure 2A). Using DR9DQ9 APC, the proliferative response could be inhibited by an anti-DQ specific monoclonal antibody, but not by anti-DR or anti-DP specific monoclonal antibodies (Figure 2B). We thus conclude that the TCC were restricted by DQ9. The TCC proliferated similarly to titrated amounts of native and TG2-treated gluten (data not shown).



Figure 1: Identification of DQ9-restricted T-cell responses to gluten in CD555, a celiac disease patient heterozygous for DQ2.2 and DQ9. The figure shows proliferation responses of several gluten-reactive T-cell lines stimulated with DR7DQ2 (B-LCL 9050) or DR9DQ9 (B-LCL 9076) expressing antigen-presenting cells and transglutaminase (TG2)-treated gluten. Proliferation was assessed by [³H] thymidine incorporation and is measured in counts per minute (cpm; mean of duplicates).

3.2. Recognition of DQ8-glut-1 epitope by DQ9-restricted T cells

We performed fractionation of a pepsin-trypsin digest of gliadin and obtained several T-cell stimulating fractions for TCC 555.A.1.4.S.6 (Supplementary Figure 1). One fraction (fraction 14) was subjected to mass spectrometry analysis. Several masses were present in the fraction, but only the sequence of one peptide, a 35-mer, was identified with high certainty (qQGYYPTSPQQPGQGQQLGQGQPGYYPTSQQPGQK, q is pyroglutamate). This peptide harbored the sequence (underlined) of the previously described DQ8-glut-1 (or glutenin) epitope [15], indicating glutenin contamination of the commercial gliadin preparation. Glutamine in P1 of this epitope can be targeted by TG2 (for deamidation) [15] and DQ9 exhibits the preference of a negative charge in P1[5]. Hence, the peptide variant with glutamate at P1 should be biologically relevant and we used this peptide in later experiments. Reactivity of the generated gluten-reactive TCC to the DQ8-glut-1 epitope (underlined) was established by testing the synthetic peptide Ac-QEGYYPTSPQQSG (Figure 2C). All 15 generated DQ9-restricted T-cell clones from altogether 3 TCL were reactive to the DQ8-glut-1 epitope.



Figure 2: Several gluten-reactive T-cell clones (TCC) generated are DQ9-restricted and they recognize the previously described DQ8-glut-1 epitope. Figure A shows proliferation responses of TCC 555.A.1.1.13 stimulated with DR9DQ9 (B-LCL 9076) or DR7DQ2 (B-LCL 9050) expressing antigen-presenting cells and transglutaminase-treated gluten or medium. Figure B shows proliferation responses of TCC 555.A.1.1.13 in the presence of blocking antibodies and gluten, gluten alone or medium, and DR9DQ9 expressing antigen-presenting cells. Figure C shows proliferation of this TCC stimulated with DR9DQ9 expressing antigen-presenting cells and peptide containing the DQ8-glut-1 epitope (Ac-QEGYYPTSPQQSG). Figure D shows proliferation of TCC 555.B.2.2.45 after stimulation with APC encoding DQ9.3 (encoded in *cis* by the patient) or DQ9.2 (encoded in *trans* by the patient), loaded with peptide containing the DQ8-glut-1 epitope. The results are representative of the testing of five TCC. Figure E shows flow cytometric analysis of expression of HLA-DQ on the surface of the DQ9.2 and DQ9.3 expressing APC. Proliferation was assessed by [³H] thymidine incorporation, measured in counts per minute (cpm) (mean of duplicates).

3.3 Presentation of DQ8-glut-1 epitope by a DQ9 variant encoded in *trans* by CD555

In addition to the *cis*-encoded HLA-DQ molecules DQ2.2 (DQA1*02:01/DQB1*02:02) and DQ9.3 (DQA1*03:02/DQB1*03:03), patient CD555 can express the two *trans*-encoded HLA-DQ molecules DQ2.3 (DQA1*03:02/DQB1*02:02) and DQ9.2 (DQA1*02:01/DQB1*03:03). While the TCC did not respond to the DQ8-glut-1 epitope when presented by a homozygous B-LCL expressing DQ2.3 (data not shown), the TCC responded when presented by a homozygous B-LCL expressing DQ2.3 (data not shown), the TCC responded when presented by a homozygous B-LCL expressing DQ9.2 although with a tenfold lower sensitivity than when presented by a DQ9.3 expressing APC (Figure 2D). When stained with an anti-DQ antibody, the expression of HLA-DQ molecules by these two APC was found to be similar (Figure 2E).

3.4. Importance of DQ8-glut-1 epitope in this patient

Two other gluten epitopes, namely the DQ8-glia- α -1 and the DQ8-glia-y-1 epitope, are commonly recognized by celiac disease patients with DQ8. We therefore carefully examined whether the TCL that made gluten-specific responses with DR9DQ9 APC, could harbor T cells which were specific for these epitopes. None of the seven tested DQ9-restricted gluten-reactive TCL responded to peptides representing the DQ8-glia- α -1 or the DQ8-glia-y-1 epitopes, whereas they made responses to the DQ8-glut-1 epitope (Figure 3A). This response pattern was maintained in TCL established from intestinal biopsies taken with 3 years' interval (Figure 3A). We also examined by ELISPOT the response to these epitopes in peripheral blood after a short gluten challenge and found that the DQ8-glut-1 epitope gave a titratable IFN- γ response which was much stronger than the response to the two other common DQ8 gluten epitopes (Figure 3B). Taken together the results indicate that patient CD555 made persistent T-cell responses to the DQ8-glut-1 epitope in the context of DQ9.



Figure 3: Compared with two other common DQ8 gluten epitopes, the DQ8-glut-1 epitope appears to be a dominant epitope in this patient. Figure A shows proliferation responses of seven T-cell lines (TCL) from CD555 stimulated with DQ9 (DQ9.3) expressing antigen-

presenting cells and peptides containing the DQ8 gluten epitopes, gluten or transglutaminase 2 (TG2)-treated gluten. Open symbols represent TCL generated from biopsies taken in 2004 while closed symbols represent TCL generated from biopsies taken in 2007. TCL B.2.2 was generated from a different biopsy than TCL B.1.3 and TCL B.1.4; TCL A.1.1.S, TCL A.1.3.S and TCL A.1.4.S from a different biopsy than TCL A.0.4.S. Proliferation was assessed by [³H] thymidine incorporation and is expressed in stimulation index (cpm with antigen stimulation/cpm with medium stimulation; mean of duplicates). A cut-off of 3 was chosen as a significant stimulation index (dotted line). Figure B shows response in peripheral blood after a short-term gluten challenge as measured by IFN-y ELISPOT (average of triplicates; Spot forming units (SFU) per 10⁶ peripheral blood mononuclear cells). Left panel shows response towards peptide harboring DQ8 gluten epitopes including DQ8-glut-1 epitope (Ac-QEGYYPTSPQQSG) or medium and right panel shows response against titrated amounts of the DQ8-glut-1 peptide. For the peptide sequences, see Supplementary Table 1.

3.5. Sustained antigen presentation

As sustained antigen-binding appears crucial for the initiation of a gluten response [12], we wanted to investigate whether this epitope shows sustained binding to DQ9. By using a T-cell based off-rate assay, we found that the DQ8-glut-1 epitope was effectively presented by DQ9 (DQ9.3) even after 96h (Figure 4).



Figure 4: The DQ8 glutenin epitope shows sustained binding to DQ9. The figure shows proliferation responses of T-cell clone 555.A.1.4.S.32 stimulated with irradiated DQ8 or DQ9 (DQ9.3) expressing antigen-presenting cells loaded for 2 h with peptide (Ac-QEGYYPTSPQQSG) containing the DQ8-glut-1 peptide or medium (T+B). The antigen-presenting cells were then washed and incubated for various time points followed by addition of T cells. The experiment is representative of two separate experiments. Proliferation was assessed by [³H] thymidine incorporation, measured in counts per minute (cpm) (mean of duplicates).

3.6. Binding of various DQ8 epitopes to DQ9

We performed a competitive binding assay for peptide binding to DQ9 (DQ9.3) and found that the DQ8-glut-1 epitope had a tenfold lower IC₅₀ value (half maximal inhibitory concentration; hence higher affinity) than the DQ8-glia- α -1 epitope, whereas the DQ8-glia- γ -1 epitope had an even lower affinity (Table 1). This could explain why the DQ8-glut-1 epitope appears to be recognized over the two other DQ8 gluten epitopes in this patient. **Table 1:** Affinity measurements of known DQ8 gluten epitopes for interaction with DQ9 (DQ9.3) or DQ8 in competitive binding assays. Affinity is measured as IC_{50} values (half maximal inhibitory concentration).

		IC ₅₀ (μM)		
	Peptide sequence	DQ8	DQ9	
DQ8-glut-1	Ac-QEGYYPTSPQQSG	4.3	3	
DQ8-glut-1 (E)	E	1.6	5.4	
DQ8-glia-α-1	SGEGSFQPSQQNPQ	12.9	36	
DQ8-glia-α-1 (E)	E	2	21.6	
DQ8-glia-γ-1b	FPEQPQQPYPQQPQQ	>160	>160	
DQ8-glia-γ-1b (E)	E	6.8	>160	

3.7. Effect of glutamine to glutamate exchange for peptide binding to DQ8 and DQ9

In a competitive binding assay, using P9 glutamine to glutamate substitutes, we found improved binding of all three epitopes for binding to DQ8, but no such effect for any of the epitopes for binding to DQ9 (Table 1). Further we found that for DQ8, the DQ8-glut-1 variant with a glutamine residue at P9 had an affinity intermediate between that of the deamidated forms of the DQ8-glia- α -1 and the DQ8-glia-y-1 epitopes. We also examined the response of one of the DQ8-glut-1 reactive TCC from patient CD555 to different P1 and P9 (glutamine \rightarrow glutamate) variants of the DQ8-glut-1 epitope (Figure 5). The TCC proliferated well in response to native peptide. A negative charge at P1 seemed slightly beneficial for recognition by this TCC. On the other hand, the TCC recognized this epitope less well when a negative charge was present at P9. This probably relates to TCR specificity issues as the affinities of the native and deamidated variant of DQ8-glut-1 for binding to DQ9 are fairly similar (Table 1) and suggests that this TCC was initially primed by the peptide variant with a Q at P9.



Figure 5: Lower proliferation of DQ8-glut-1 reactive T-cell clone from CD555 when stimulated with peptide with a negative charge at P9. The figure shows proliferation responses of TCC 555.A.1.4.S.32 stimulated with P1 and P9, Q or E variants of DQ8-glut-1 epitope and irradiated DQ9 (DQ9.3) antigen-presenting cells. Proliferation was assessed by [³H] thymidine incorporation, measured in counts per minute (cpm) (mean of duplicates).

4. DISCUSSION

In this study we show for the first time the presence of DQ9restricted gluten-reactive T cells in the small intestine of a CD patient. As this patient was heterozygous for DQ2.2 and DQ9, it is still unknown whether DQ9 on its own can initiate CD. We have found the presence of DQ2.2-restricted gluten-reactive T-cell clones in this patient which recognize the DQ2.2-glut-1 epitope (Bodd et al., Gastroenterology, in press). Further, this patient can form the transdimer DQ9.2 (DQA1*02:01/ DQB1*03:03), that also activated the gluten-reactive DQ9restricted T cells. This transdimer shares the β chain with the cis encoded DQ9.3 molecule (DQA1*03:02/DQB1*03:03). While both DQ9.2 and DQ9.3 could activate the glutenreactive T cells, the *cis*-encoded DQ9.3 appeared more efficient. Altogether, even though studies of HLA-DQ homozygous patients may have been more informative, our study of this heterozygous patient indicates that DQ9 (in particular DQ9.3) can be implicated in a pathogenic gluten response in CD.

The DR9DQ9 haplotype is very rare in Caucausian populations (< 1%) [16], and thus it is hard by population genetics to determine whether DQ9 is a risk factor for CD. Interestingly, in a study of a large series of CD patients [17], one of the four patients who did not carry the known risk factors DQ2.5, DQ8, or either the α or β chain of DQ2.5, expressed DQ9.3 (DQA1*03:02/DQB1*03:03) encoded in trans and DQ9.2 (DQA1*02:01/DQB1*03:03) encoded in cis. In such a setting functional studies may provide important hints to unravel risk factors. This is exemplified by studies of DQ7 and DQ8 as risk factors for CD. DR4 haplotypes confer risk in DQ2negative CD patients, but initially it was unclear whether the risk was associated with DR4DQ7, DR4DQ8 or both haplotypes [18]. A study of a DR4DQ7/DR4DQ8 heterozygous patient provided a clue to this issue [19]. The gluten-reactive T cells established from gut biopsies of this patient only recognized gluten in the context of DQ8 but not DQ7, thus indicating that DQ8 is the susceptibility factor. This conclusion has later been confirmed in population genetics studies [20]. Similar to the above described study, our current observation indicates that DQ9 is a susceptibility factor for CD.

The gluten epitope recognized by the patient expressing DQ9 was identified as the DQ8-glut-1 epitope, which has been previously identified in DQ8 patients, but does not appear to be a common epitope in patients of this category [15,21]. All DQ9-restricted gluten-reactive TCC generated from three TCL (two of which generated from biopsies taken years apart) and all seven TCL (generated from in total four different biopsies) responding to gluten after stimulation with DQ9 expressing APC responded to this peptide. Thus, the DQ8-glut-1 epitope appears to be the dominant DQ9-restricted gluten epitope in this patient. In line with the importance of sustained antigen presentation for initiating a gluten response [12], we found that the epitope shows sustained binding to DQ9. Further, we showed a strong DQ9-restricted T-cell response to the DQ8-glut-1 epitope, while no response was found against two other common DQ8 gluten epitopes. Although we must be cautious to conclude on the basis of one patient, we propose that this is likely due to a higher affinity of the DQ8-glut-1 epitope for binding to DQ9 than the other two DQ8 epitopes, as measured in a competitive binding assay.

Affinity measurements of gluten peptide interaction with DQ8 and DQ9 also confirmed, as previously modeled [5], the importance of a negative charge at P9 of gluten peptides for binding to DQ8, but not to DQ9. Interestingly we found that the DQ8-glut-1 epitope binds fairly well also to DQ8, compared with two other common DQ8 epitopes, even with the presence of a glutamine at P9. This might explain why the response to the DQ8-glut-1 epitope is deamidation-independent in DQ8 CD patients [21]. This also explains why some DQ8glut-1 reactive TCC from DQ8 patients recognize the peptide much better with a glutamine than with a glutamate at P9, suggesting that the T cells were initially primed by the peptide variant with a glutamine at this position [5].

We have recently shown that the lower risk for CD of DQ2.2 compared with DQ2.5 relates to stricter constraints for binding of gluten peptides to DQ2.2 than to DQ2.5 [12] (Bodd et al., Gastroenterology, in press). Our findings suggest a similar mechanism for DQ8 and DQ9 as for DQ2.5 and DQ2.2. Indeed, the loss of the advantage of a negative charge at P9 for DQ9 possibly restricts the number of potential epitopes binding sufficiently well to initiate a T-cell response. In conclusion, we report the presence of DQ9 -restricted glutenreactive T cells recognizing the DQ8-glut-1 epitope, an epitope previously described to be recognized by DQ8 patients, in the small intestine of a CD patient expressing DQ9. This epitope appears to be the dominant DQ9-restricted epitope in this patient and binds particularly well to DQ9 compared with other DQ8 gluten epitopes. Our findings indicate that the lost potential benefit of a negative charge at P9 possibly restricts the number of peptides binding well to DQ9 and hence the threshold for disease initiation. Our findings shed light on the association of the DQ8 β 57 polymorphism with immunological diseases.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work received financial support from the Norwegian Extra Foundation for Health and Rehabilitation through EXTRA funds, the Novo Nordisk Foundation and the Research Council of Norway. The authors thank Bjørg Simonsen for help with performing the competitive peptide binding assays and Maria Stensland (Proteomics Core Facility, Oslo University Hospital) and Hao Yu for excellent technical assistance. The authors also thank the celiac disease patient who donated biological material to the study and Professor Frits Koning for critical reading of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. Todd JA, Bell JI, McDevitt HO. HLA-DQ beta gene contributes to susceptibility and resistance to insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Nature 1987;329:599-604.

2. Hovhannisyan Z, Weiss A, Martin A, Wiesner M, Tollefsen S, Yoshida K, Ciszewski C, Curran SA, Murray JA, David CS, Sollid LM, Koning F, Teyton L, Jabri B. The role of HLA-DQ8 β 57 polymorphism in the anti-gluten T-cell response in coeliac disease. Nature 2008;456:534-8.

3. Lee KH, Wucherpfennig KW, Wiley DC. Structure of a human insulin peptide-HLA-DQ8 complex and susceptibility to type 1 diabetes. Nat Immunol 2001;2:501-7.

 Kwok WW, Domeier ME, Johnson ML, Nepom GT, Koelle DM. HLA-DQB1 codon 57 is critical for peptide binding and recognition. J Exp Med 1996;183:1253-8.

 Moustakas AK, van de Wal Y, Routsias J, Kooy YM, van Veelen PA, Drijfhout JW, Koning F, Papadopoulos GK. Structure of celiac disease-associated HLA-DQ8 and non-associated HLA-DQ9 alleles in complex with two disease-specific epitopes. Int Immunol 2000;12:1157-66.

 Molberg Ø, Kett K, Scott H, Thorsby E, Sollid LM, Lundin KE. Gliadin specific, HLA DQ2-restricted T cells are commonly found in small intestinal biopsies from coeliac disease patients, but not from controls. Scand J Immunol 1997;46:103-8.

 Molberg Ø, McAdam SN, Korner R, Quarsten H, Kristiansen C, Madsen L, Fugger L, Scott H, Noren O, Roepstorff P, Lundin KE, Sjøstrom H, Sollid LM. Tissue transglutaminase selectively modifies gliadin peptides that are recognized by gut-derived T cells in celiac disease. Nat Med 1998;4:713-7.

 Kagnoff MF. AGA Institute Medical Position Statement on the Diagnosis and Management of Celiac Disease. Gastroenterology 2006;131:1977-80.

 Raki M, Fallang LE, Brottveit M, Bergseng E, Quarsten H, Lundin KE, Sollid LM. Tetramer visualization of gut-homing glutenspecific T cells in the peripheral blood of celiac disease patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:2831-6.

 Anderson RP, van Heel DA, Tye-Din JA, Barnardo M, Salio M, Jewell DP, Hill AV. T cells in peripheral blood after gluten challenge in coeliac disease. Gut 2005;54:1217-23.

 Molberg Ø, McAdam SN, Lundin KE, Sollid LM. Studies of gliadin-specific T cells in celiac disease. In: Marsh MN, editor. Celiac disease. Methods and protocols, Totowa, New Jersey, USA: Humana; 2000, p. 105-124

12. Fallang LE, Bergseng E, Hotta K, Berg-Larsen A, Kim CY, Sollid LM. Differences in the risk of celiac disease associated with HLA-DQ2.5 or HLA-DQ2.2 are related to sustained gluten antigen presentation. Nat Immunol 2009;10:1096-101.

 Jüse U, Arntzen M, Højrup P, Fleckenstein B, Sollid LM. Assessing high affinity binding to HLA-DQ2.5 by a novel peptide library based approach. Bioorg Med Chem 2011;19:2470-7.

14. Vader W, Stepniak D, Kooy Y, Mearin L, Thompson A, van Rood JJ, Spaenij L, Koning F. The HLA-DQ2 gene dose effect in celiac disease is directly related to the magnitude and breadth of glutenspecific T cell responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100:12390-5.

 van de Wal Y, Kooy YM, van Veelen PA, Vader W, August SA, Drijfhout JW, Pena SA, Koning F. Glutenin is involved in the glutendriven mucosal T cell response. Eur J Immunol 1999;29:3133-9.

 Klitz W, Maiers M, Spellman S, Baxter-Lowe LA, Schmeckpeper B, Williams TM, Fernandez-Vina M. New HLA haplotype frequency reference standards: high-resolution and large sample typing of HLA DR-DQ haplotypes in a sample of European Americans. Tissue Antigens 2003;62:296-307.

 Karell K, Louka AS, Moodie SJ, Ascher H, Clot F, Greco L, Ciclitira PJ, Sollid LM, Partanen J. HLA types in celiac disease patients not carrying the DQA1*05-DQB1*02 (DQ2) heterodimer: results from the European Genetics Cluster on Celiac Disease. Hum Immunol 2003;64:469-77.

 Tosi R, Tanigaki N, Polanco I, De Marchi M, Woodrow JC, Hetzel PA. A radioimmunoassay typing study of non-DQw2associated celiac disease. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 1986;39:168-72.

 Lundin KE, Scott H, Fausa O, Thorsby E, Sollid LM. T cells from the small intestinal mucosa of a DR4, DQ7/DR4, DQ8 celiac disease patient preferentially recognize gliadin when presented by DQ8. Hum Immunol 1994;41:285-91. 20. Spurkland A, Sollid LM, Polanco I, Vartdal F, Thorsby E. HLA-DR and -DQ genotypes of celiac disease patients serologically typed to be non-DR3 or non-DR5/7. Hum Immunol 1992;35:188-92.

21. Henderson KN, Tye-Din JA, Reid HH, Chen Z, Borg NA, Beissbarth T, Tatham A, Mannering SI, Purcell AW, Dudek NL, van Heel DA, McCluskey J, Rossjohn J, Anderson RP. A structural and immunological basis for the role of human leukocyte antigen DQ8 in celiac disease. Immunity 2007;27:23-34.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Supplementary table 1: Overview of peptides used in the study. Acetylated peptides where used to avoid the formation of pyroglutamate.

Epitope	Sequence	Comment
DQ8-glut-1	Ac-QEGYYPTSPQQSG	Most frequently used DQ8- glut-1 peptide in manuscript.
DQ8-glia-α1	SGEGSFQPSQQNPQ	
DQ8-glia-α1 (E)	SGEGSFQPSQENPQ	
DQ8-glia-γ1b	FPEQPQQPYPQQP	
DQ8-glia-γ1b (E)	FPEQPQQPYPEQPQQ	
DQ8-glia-γ1a	PQTEQPQQPFPQPQ	
DQ8-glut-1, P1 and P9 (E)	Ac-QEGYYPTSPEQSG	
DQ8-glut-1, P9 (E)	Ac-QQGYYPTSPEQSG	
DQ8-glut-1, No E	Ac-QQGYYPTSPQQSG	



Supplementary figure 1: T-cell proliferation of TCC 555.A.1.4.S.6 against transglutaminase-treated pepsin-trypsin digested gliadin and high-performance liquid chromagraphy (HPLC) separated fractions (from 1-36) from a stimulatory fraction of pepsin-trypsin digested gliadin separated by gel-filtration.